### Mo Mc

### Ilar Mechanisms Underlying Tooth Togenesis and Cell Differentiation

### **XIU-PING WANG**

Developmental Biology Programme Institute of Biotechnology and Dartment of Orthodontics and Pedodontics Institute of Dentistry and Viikki Graduate School in Biosciences University of Helsinki



'n,

ationes Biocentri Viikki Universitatis Helsingiensis

22/2004

### Molecular Mechanisms underlying Tooth Morphogenesis and Cell Differentiation

### **XIU-PING WANG**

Developmental Biology Programme, Institute of Biotechnology and Department of Orthodontics and Pedodontics, Institute of Dentistry and Viikki Graduate School in Biosciences University of Helsinki

Academic Dissertation To be discussed publicly with the permission of the Faculty of Medicine of the University of Helsinki, in auditorium 2041 at Viikki Biocenter 2 on September 17<sup>th</sup> 2004, at 12 noon.

Helsinki 2004

### Supervised by:

Professor Irma Thesleff Institute of Biotechnology University of Helsinki, Finland

Reviewed by:

Docent Kristiina Heikinheimo Institute of Dentistry University of Turku, Finland

and

Docent Tapio Heino Institute of Biotechnology and Department of Biological and Environmental Sciences University of Helsinki, Finland

Opponent:

Docent Amel Gritli-Linde Department of Oral Biochemistry Göteborg University, Sweden

> ISBN 952-10-1961-1 ISSN 1239-9469 Helsinki 2004 Yliopistopaino

### CONTENTS

ABBREVIATIONS	
LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	
SUMMARY	1
1. REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	4
1.1. Developmental anatomy of the tooth	4
1.2. Molecular regulation of tooth morphogenesis	7
1.2.1. Tooth initiation	7
1.2.2. Early epithelial signaling center	11
1.2.3. Primary enamel knot and bud to cap stage transition	12
1.2.4. Secondary enamel knots and cusp formation	13
1.3. Cell differentiation in the tooth	15
1.3.1. Odontoblast differentiation	15
1.3.2. Ameloblast differentiation	17
1.4. Runx2 in embryogenesis	20
1.4.1. Structure and biological function of Runx2	21
1.4.2. Regulation of Runx2 activity	23
1.4.3. Runx2 in tooth development	24
1.5. Follistatin as a modulator of TGF $\beta$	
superfamily signaling during development	25
1.5.1. TGF $\beta$ superfamily proteins and their	
modulators in embryogenesis	25
1.5.2. Structure and biological function of follistatin	28
1.5.3. Regulation of follistatin activity	30
1.5.4. Follistatin in tooth development	32
2. AIMS OF THE STUDY	33
3. MATERIALS AND METHODS	34
3.1. Mouse strains	34
3.2. Probes	35
3.3. Methods used and decribed in articles I-IV	36
	27
4. RESULISAND DISCUSSION	ן כ בכ
4.1. Phenotypic changes in <i>Runx2</i> mutant mouse dentition (1)	37 20
4.2. The role of Runx2 during tooth development (11)	38
4.5. Antagonistic interactions between follistatin and activity Signals	41
1 determination of the shape of mouse motar teeth (111)	41
4.4. Follistatin as a spatial and temporal regulator of	11
ameloblast differentiation (1v)	44
5. CONCLUDING REMARKS	48
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	50
REFERENCES	51

### ABBREVIATIONS

aa	amino acid
BMP	bone morphogenetic protein
BrdU	5'-bromo-2'-deoxyuridine
BSA	bovine serum albumin
Bsp	bone sialoprotein
Cbfa1	core binding factor alpha 1
cDNA	complementary deoxyribonucleic acid
CCD	cleidocranial dysplasia
DAB	3'-3' diaminobenzidine
DEPC	diethyl pyrocarbonate
Dlx	vertebrate homologue of Drosophila distal-less gene
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
DMEM	Dulbesso's Modified Eagle's Medium
E	embryonic day
EDTA	ethylenediamine tetra-cetic acid
Fgf	fibroblast growth factor
Fgf	fibroblast growth factor receptor
Gli	vertebrate homologue of Drosophila cubitus interruptus gene
GDF	growth and differentiation factor
Hh	hedgehog
Hox	vertebrate homeodomain box gene
Igf	insulin-like growth factor
K14-follistatin	overexpression of follistatin under keratin 14 promoter
Lefl	lymphoid enhancer factor 1
M1	first molar
M2	second molar
M3	third molar
mRNA	messenger ribonucleic acid
Msx	vertebrate homologue of Drosophila muscle segment (Msh) gene
MMP	matrix metalloproteinase
Osf2	osteoblast specific factor 2
p21	21 kD cyclin dependent kinase interacting protein
Р	postnatal day
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
RT-PCR	reverse transcription – polymerase chain reaction
PFA	paraformaldehyde

Pitx2	pituitary homeobox 2
PTHrP	parathyroid hormone-related protein
Runx	vertebrate homologue of the Drosophila runt gene
Shh	sonic hedgehog
Smad	vertebrate homologue of Drosophila mothers against
	decapentaplegic (Mad)
TGFβ	transforming growth factor beta
Tnf	tumor necrosis factor
UTP	uridine triphosphate
Wnt	vertebrate homologue of the Drosophila segment polarity gene
	wingless

Genes are given in italics. Proteins are given in Roman using upper case letters.

#### LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following original articles, which are referred to in the text by their Roman numerals.

- I Åberg, T., Cavender, A., Gaikwad, J.S., Bronckers, A.L., Wang, X.P., Waltimo-Siren, J., Thesleff, I., and D'Souza, R.N. (2004). Phenotypic changes in dentition of Runx2 homozygote-null mutant mice. *J. Histochem. Cytochem.* 52: 131-9.
- Åberg, T.\*, Wang, X.P.\*, Kim, J.H., Yamashiro, T., Bei, M., Rice, R., Ryoo, H.M., and Thesleff, I. (2004). Runx2 mediated FGF signalling from epithelium to mesenchyme during tooth morphogenesis. *Dev. Biol.* 270: 76-93
  \* Equal contribution
- III Wang, X.P., Suomalainen, M., Jorgez, C.J., Matzuk, M.M., Wankell, M., Werner, S., and Thesleff, I. (2004). Modulation of activin/BMP signalling by follistatin is required for the morphogenesis of mouse molar teeth. *Dev. Dyn.* 231: 98-108.
- IV Wang, X.P., Suomalainen, M., Jorgez, C.J., Matzuk, M.M., Wankell, M., Werner, S., and Thesleff, I. (2004). Follistatin inhibits ameloblast differentiation by antagonizing BMP4 signaling and is responsible for the enamel-free area formation in the mouse incisors. Submitted.

The original publications are reproduced with the permission of the publishers. In addition, some unpublished data are presented.

#### SUMMARY

Mammalian organs comprise epithelial and mesenchymal tissues. During development, sequential and reciprocal interactions between these tissues regulate initiation, morphogenesis, as well as organ-specific cell differentiation. At the molecular level. these interactions are mediated by signaling molecules, their receptors, transcription factors, and cell adhesion molecules. It is now well known that during embryogenesis, many signals and signaling pathways have been remarkably conserved among different organs and species, and even between invertebrates and vertebrates. Studving the molecular mechanisms underlying one system can often provide clues to the studies of other models

Teeth are typical examples of epithelial appendages and their early development resembles morphologically as well as molecularly other epithelial derived organs, such as hairs, feathers, and glands. Since developing mouse tooth germs are easily accessed and manipulated in vitro, they have been used for a long time as good models for studying the nature of epithelialmesenchymal interactions and the molecular regulation of organogenesis. Teeth start to form from a narrow stripe of thickened epithelium on the oral surface of maxillary and mandibular primordia. Tooth germs pass through bud, cap, and bell stages with dental epithelium growing and folding into the specific shape of the tooth crown. Eventually, dental epithelial cells give rise to ameloblasts and mesenchymal cells into odontoblasts. which then secrete enamel and dentin matrices.

respectively. Since the 1990s, there have been dramatic advances in our understanding of the genetic control of tooth development, and the molecular basis and signaling networks regulating tooth development is starting to be elucidated.

Runx2 (Cbfa1) is a runt domain transcription factor that plays pivotal roles in the formation of bones and teeth. Mutations of one allele of the Runx2 gene in humans are responsible for cleidocranial dysplasia, а syndrome characterised by general bone dvsplasia as well as supernumerary and unerupted teeth in permanent dentition. Runx2 knockout mice completely lack bone formation and their teeth arrest at the late bud stage. Earlier work has shown that *Runx2* is expressed in the dental mesenchyme and regulated bv epithelial FGF signals. In this study, we analyzed in detail the tooth phenotype in *Runx2* mutant mice. We showed that the *Runx2* mutant lower molars were affected more severely than the upper ones. Moreover, there was extra budding on the lingual aspects of *Runx2* mutant upper molars, which may represent the extension of dental lamina to form a secondary dentition in other animals. The differences between mutant upper and lower molars could also be detected molecularly with most of the enamel knot marker genes expressed normally in the mutant upper molars, whereas reduced or absent in the lower ones. More significantly, the expression of Runx3. another runt domain transcription factor, was dramatically upregulated in *Runx2* mutant upper molars, which may substitute some of Runx2 function and contribute to the differences between the mutant upper Tissue and lower molars recombination experiments indicated that the main defective tissue in Runx2 mutant teeth is the dental mesenchyme, which is consistent with the expression pattern of Runx2 in the mesenchymal cells. In Runx2 mutant molars. Fgf3 expression was downregulated and FGF4 protein releasing beads failed to induce Fgf3 expression in the mutant dental mesenchyme as in the wild types. Based on these results, and also the finding that Runx2 expression was downregulated in Msx1 mutant tooth germs, we proposed a model where Runx2 functions in the dental mesenchyme between Msx1 and Fgf3 and mediates FGF signals and epithelial-mesenchymal interactions during tooth development.

The development of mammalian organs follows a rigid temporal and spatial schedule which is regulated by antagonistic interactions between activators and their inhibitors. The final outcome of these interactions determines the cell fate. Follistatin is an extracellular modulator of TGFB superfamily signals, including activins, BMPs, and GDFs. Earlier work has shown that follistatin is transiently expressed in the primary and secondary enamel knots of the developing mouse molars with concominant expression of activin βA in the underlying mesenchyme, suggesting an important role of these molecules in tooth development. Here we studied the role of follistatin during tooth development by analyzing the tooth phenotypes in follistatin knockout mice and in overexpressing transgenic mice follistatin under keratin 14 promoter. Both mouse lines exhibited misshapen molars. In follistatin knockout mouse molars, the primary enamel knot has formed. However, its signaling function was apparently disturbed resulting in the defects in secondary enamel knot formation and aberrant tooth shape. These data suggested that finely tuned antagonistic interactions between follistatin and activin /BMP signals are critical for the precise size and shape of mouse molars. Interestingly, these antagonistic interactions are also involved in the regulation of cell differentiation in the tooth. Overexpression of follistatin in the dental epithelium inhibited ameloblast differentiation. Conversely, in follistatin knockout mice, functional ameloblasts differentiated on the lingual surface of mouse incisors, which is normally the root-analogue area without any enamel formation in wild type mice. We showed that BMP4, which is expressed in odontoblasts, is able to trigger the differentiation of inner dental epithelium into ameloblasts. Activin BA expressed in the dental follicle can induce follistatin in the dental epithelium. Follistatin acts locally on the dental epithelium antagonising the ameloblastinducing activity of BMP4 from odontoblasts and thereby prevents enamel formation. Our results implicate a novel role for the dental follicle as a regulator of enamel formation and indicate that the differentiation of dental epithelium into ameloblasts is regulated by antagonistic actions between activin and BMP signals from two dental

mesenchymal cell lineages. Follistatin integrates these effects and spatially and temporarily regulates enamel formation. These results have helped us in understanding the molecular control of cell differentiation in the tooth, and furthermore emphasized the importance of negative regulation during development.

### **1. REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE**

Tooth development is a multi-step and complex process involving coordinated interactions between different tissue layers. The early stages of tooth development resemble morphologically and molecularly other ectodermal derived organs, such as hairs, feathers, and mammary glands (Pispa and Thesleff, 2003). They all develop via sequential and reciprocal interactions between epithelial and mesenchymal tissues. At the initiation stage, local thickenings of the ectoderm form ectodermal placodes, which direct the condensation of underlying mesenchymal cells. Subsequently the ectodermal placodes invaginates into (tooth, hair) or grows out of (feather) the mesenchyme generating an ectodermal bud, which then grows and folds, or branches outlining the final shape of the organ. Eventually, differentiation of specialized cell types contributes to a functional organ in the body.

It is now well known that during embryogenesis, many signals and signaling pathways have been conserved between different organs, or even between invertebrates and vertebrates. There are also remarkable similarities in the developmental regulatory processes used in different systems, such as lateral inhibition in the early induction of primary axes and later in the induction of hair follicles and feather buds, as well as signaling centers in the limb bud, tooth, and hair follicle development (Patel et al., 1999; Nakamura et al., 2003; Smith, 1999). Studying the mechanisms underlying one model system can often shed light on the studies of other models. Since the developing mouse tooth germs are easily assessed and can be experimentally manipulated in vitro, they have been used for a long time as a powerful model for analyzing the molecular mechanisms organogenesis (Thesleff of and Nieminen, 1996). Over the last 15 years, rapid progress in molecular biology, genetics, transgenic mouse techniques, together with classical embryological approaches have led significant insight into the genetic regulation of tooth development. More than 300 genes have been demonstrated to be expressed in the developing tooth (see tooth database http://bite-it.helsinki.fi). The genetic pathways and signaling networks involved in tooth development have been studied in great detail particularly in several protein families, including growth factor fibroblast (FGF). transforming growth factor  $\beta$  (TGF- $\beta$ ), hedgehog (Hh), Wnt, and tumour necrosis factor (TNF) (Jernvall and Thesleff, 2000; Thesleff and Mikkola, 2002). In this review I will discuss the current knowledge of molecular and tissue interactions regulating tooth development from initiation and morphogenesis, final to the differentiation of ameloblasts and odontoblasts. A special focus will be given to the transcription factor Runx2 and the soluble protein follistatin in embryogenesis and specifically during tooth development.

### 1.1. Developmental anatomy of the tooth

Mammalian dentition is usually heterodont with teeth of different shapes, and diphyodont consisting of two sets of teeth (Berkovitz et al., 2002). In the oral cavity, from anterior to posterior region, there are basically three tooth forms: incisiform, caniniform, and molariform. Incisiform (incisors) teeth have thin blade-like crowns for cutting the food. Caniniform teeth (canines) are used for piercing or tearing food with a single pointed cone-shaped crown. Molariform teeth (premolars and molars) possess a number of cusps used for grinding and mastication (Berkovitz et al., 2002). Species-specific variations exist in the teeth. For example, humans have two generations of teeth: deciduous (primary) dentition and permanent (secondary) dentition, and the permanent dentition contains two incisors, one canine, two premolars, and three molars in each quadrant of the jaws. Mice only exhibit one dentition with one incisor in the front and three molars in the back of each half of the jaw. Between the incisor and molar teeth is a toothless diastema

region containing rudimentary tooth germs arrested at the bud stage and eventually degenerated by apoptosis (Fig. 1; Keränen et al., 1999; Tureckova et al., 1995). Mouse teeth are also unique in that their incisors grow continuously throughout life and the enamel is solely formed on the labial surface of the incisors, whereas the lingual aspect is enamel-free and only covered by dentin.

Mammalian teeth develop on the oral surface of the frontonasal process, maxillary process, and mandibular process. The first evidence of tooth development in mice is seen around embryonic (E) day 11.5 with the formation of a horseshoe-shaped epithelial ridge, i.e. dental lamina, from the basal layer of the primitive oral epithelium into the mesenchyme. The dental lamina follows the line of the vestibular fold and marks the position of the future dental arch (Fig. 1). Further development of the dental lamina gives



**Fig.1. Schematic view of molar tooth development.** Mouse has one incisor (Inc) and three molars (M) in each quadrant of the jaw. Teeth develop through dental lamina, bud, cap, and cell stages with signaling centers form at the tips of the tooth buds. Inc, incisor; M1, first molar; M2, second molar; M3, third molar.

rise to individual globular swellings which bud into the jaw mesenchyme (E12-E13, bud stage). The mesenchymal cells proliferate and condense around the bud. Meanwhile, the dental lamina grows backward giving rise to the second and third molar germs. The tooth bud grows and folds becoming progressively cap-shaped and enveloping underlying dental the mesenchyme, which is now termed dental papilla (E14-E15, cap stage). The surrounding mesenchymal cells form the dental follicle. At this stage, a cluster of condensed cells can be obviously seen at the tip of the tooth bud constituting the primary enamel knot, a transient signaling center immediately above the dental papilla mesenchyme. After the cap stage, the primary enamel knot degenerates soon by apoptotic removal. During the following bell stage (E16 onward), the tooth germ undergoes morphodifferentiation further and histodifferentiation forming distinct cell types and cell layers of the enamel organ. In the center of the enlarging enamel organ reside large and star-shaped cells containing conspicuous nuclei and many branching processes forming the stellate reticulum. The extracellular matrix of the stellate reticulum is fluid filled and rich in glycosaminoglycans, which have been suggested to be involved in the maintenance and protection of the enamel organ by balancing pressure from the dental follicle. The external epithelial cells remain cuboidal and are separated from the surrounding mesenchymal dental follicle by a basement membrane. Between the stellate reticulum and inner

dental epithelium are two or three lavers of flattened cells forming the stratum intermedium. The secondary enamel knots start to form at the tips of future cusps governing the folding of the dental epithelium and determining the shape of the tooth crown (Jernvall and Thesleff, 2000). At late bell stage, the inner dental epithelial cells become columnar. elongated. polarized. and and differentiate into enamel-secreting ameloblasts. The dental papilla mesenchymal cells lying adjacent to the inner dental epithelium differentiate into dentin-secreting odontoblasts, and the remaining dental papilla cells give rise to the dental pulp. The differentiation of ameloblasts and odontoblasts both start at the tips of future cusps, gradually sweeping down to the base of the tooth crown and they are coordinated with each other. When the odontoblasts start to secrete dentin matrix, the basement membrane between the dental papilla and pre-ameloblasts become degraded, and later ameloblasts secrete enamel matrix which then mineralizes forming the hardest tissue in the body (Kjoelby et al., 1994). The dental lamina connecting the enamel organ to the oral mucosa breaks down and degenerates. Once the formation of tooth crown is completed, roots start to develop. Dental follicle cells surrounding the enamel organ generate cementoblasts lining the root, and fibroblasts and osteoblasts forming the periodontal ligament and alveolar bone supporting the tooth. The dental follicle also plays a significant role during the eruption of teeth into the oral cavity (Berkovitz et al., 2002).

### **1.2.** Molecular regulation of tooth morphogenesis

### 1.2.1. Tooth initiation

The initiation of organogenesis involves both instructive and permissive factors, i.e. an inducer from one tissue (e.g. the epithelium) and the competence of the other tissue (e.g. the mesenchyme). In most epithelial derived organs, such as hairs, mammary gland, and kidney, the inducer comes from first the mesenchyme (Pispa and Thesleff, 2003). In the context of tooth development, the initial signals reside in the stomodeal epithelium. The mesenchymal component of the tooth derives from cranial neural crest cells, which migrate from caudal regions of midbrain and populate into the facial primordia (Imai et al., 1996; Chai et al., 2000). Classical tissue recombination experiments have demonstrated that the early stage (E9-E11) mandibular arch oral epithelium can induce tooth formation when recombined with neural crest-derived mesenchyme in the second branchial arch, or even with neural crest cells from the trunk level, but not with non-neural crest derived mesenchyme such as limb mesenchyme. Reversed recombinations between mandibular mesenchyme and nondental epithelium do not form teeth. indicating that the early stage oral epithelium possesses the odontogenic potential (Mina and Kollar, 1987; Lumsden, 1988). Moreover, the early stage oral epithelium can also determine the tooth identity, since recombination of incisor epithelium with induced molar mesenchyme forms an incisiform tooth (Kollar and Mina, 1991). After the initiation stage, around E12, the

odontogenic potential shifts from the dental epithelium to the mesenchyme, which subsequently guides the tooth formation and also determines the tooth shape (Mina and Kollar, 1987; Lumsden 1988; Kollar and Baird, 1969).

The development of the teeth is confined in a U-shaped area in the maxilla and mandible. At the early stage, the oral ectoderm and mesenchyme appear homogenous in the facial primodia and all the neural crest derived mesenchymal cells possess odontogenic capacity (Mina and Kollar, 1987; Lumsden, 1988). It has been shown that at E10, mandibular arch mesenchymal cells are equally competent to respond to epithelial FGF8 signaling for the induction of the homeobox transcription factor *Lhx7* and form teeth. However, Lhx6 and Lhx7 expression are only restricted to the oral side mesenchyme of maxillary and mandibular processes, whereas the expression of Goosecoid is confined to the aboral side mesenchyme and is prevented by Lhx7 expressing cells. The oral and aboral polarity of the mandible has been suggested to be specified by regionally localized signals from the oral ectoderm. such as FGF8. which in conjunction with another ectodermal signal endothelium-1 act by maintaining and gradually fixing the spatial expressions of oral (Lhx7expressing) and aboral (Goosecoidexpressing) homeobox genes. By E10.5aboral E11.0. the fate of side mesenchymal cells become determined and they gradually lose their competence to respond to FGF8 signal for oral-side genes expression (Grigoriou et al., 1998). It is thus appears that although the identity of the brachial arch is determined by neural crest cells, the polarity of the first branchial arch is controlled by the ectoderm.

Tooth buds are generated from specific regions within the dental lamina. The correct position of individual tooth buds within the dental lamina was considered to be related to the antagonistic interactions between FGF and BMP signals, which regulate the mesenchymal expression of Pax9 gene (Neubuser et al., 1997). Pax9 is a paired box transcription factor specifically expressed in the prospective tooth mesenchyme prior to any morphological signs of tooth development (E10 in molar mesenchyme; E10.5 in molar and incisor mesenchyme). FGF8 induces Pax9 expression, whereas BMP4 and BMP2 prevent this induction. However, in Pax9 deficient mice, the tooth buds do form in the normal locations, indicating that some other genes are also required for the initial determination of individual tooth sites (Peters et al., 1998).

The definition of the boundaries of developing tooth germs has been demonstrated to involve antagonistic interactions between Shh and Wnt signals. Shh expression is highly restricted to the dental lamina of future incisor and molar regions at the early stage and later to the tips of the tooth buds (E11.5-E14.5). SHH protein acts as a long-range signal and application of SHH protein in vitro can induce oral epithelial cell proliferation. In sharp contrast, Wnt-7b is expressed reversely to Shh, throughout oral epithelium but remarkably absent in Shh expressing tooth-forming regions (Bitgood and McMahon, 1995; Hardcastle et al., Since ectopic- and over-1998). expression of Wnt-7b in the dental epithelium represses Shh expression and prevents tooth bud formation, it has been proposed that Wnt7b acts by restricting Shh expression at specific tooth-forming regions within the dental lamina so that Shh can only locally stimulate cell proliferation for the tooth bud formation (Gritli-Linde et al., 2001; Hardcastle et al., 1998; Sarkar et al., 2000).

The localisation of tooth bud epithelial thickening may also involve other molecules which show restricted expression patterns in the developing tooth germs. For example, *Pitx2* (*Otlx2*) is a bicoid-related transcription factor which is expressed continuously in the dental lamina epithelium at E11 stage but subsequently (E12) limited to the budding tooth germs (Mucchielli et al., 1997; Keränen et al., 1999). Targeted mutation of the Pitx2 gene in transgenic mice results in the development of maxillary teeth arrested at placodal stage and mandibular teeth arrested at bud stage. Similarly haploinsufficiency of PITX2 gene in humans has been shown to be associated with Rieger syndrome comprising missing teeth (Oligodontia) (Semina et al., 1996; Flomen et al., 1998; Lin et al., 1999).

Mammalian dentitions are highly patterned with specific shapes of teeth for each locations of the jaw, i.e. monocuspid teeth located in distal (anterior) region and multi-cuspid teeth in proximal (posterior) region. The basic dental pattern has been suggested to be established early during embryogenesis, such that cranial neural crest cells may be specified first as odontogenic lineage and later further regionally specified as maxilla/mandible/molar/incisor (Weiss et al., 1998; Teaford et al., 2000).

In insects and vertebrates, the anterior-posterior axis of the body is

determined by homeotic genes or homeobox-containing Hox genes. In vertebrates, Hox genes are expressed in ectoderm and mesoderm during gastrulation and during organogenesis expression is found in the central nervous system, somites, and limb buds. The neural crest cells emanating from the neural tube maintain their Hox-gene expression during their migration (Duboule and Morata, 1994; Ramirez-Solis et al., 1993). However, no Hox gene is expressed in the first branchial arch mesenchyme. Instead, there are a number of non-Hox homeoboxcontaining genes with overlapping and region-specific expression patterns in the facial ectomesenchyme, such as Alx3, Barx1, Dlx1, -2, -3, -5, -6, -7, Pitx2, Msx1, -2, Lhx6, -7, and Gsc. They are expressed prior to the morphological sign of tooth development and also during tooth development (Peters et al., 1998; Cobourne and Sharpe, 2003). homeobox-containing These transcription factors do not exhibit genomic colinearity as in the Hox genes, but the combinational activities of these genes may specify the tooth shape via an "odontogenic homeobox code" (Sharpe, 1995). Evidence for the potential role of these homeobox genes in determining the identity of the teeth has come from in vivo expression pattern analysis and targeted gene mutagenesis, as well as in vitro experiments manipulating gene expressions in the tooth germ. It has been shown that *Barx1* is induced by FGF8 from overlying oral ectoderm and restricted to the proximal molar-forming region by antagonistic signaling from Bmp4 in the distal incisor-forming epithelium. Conversely, Msx1 expression in the incisor-forming region

mesenchyme is induced and maintained by BMP4 (Tucker et al., 1998). Inhibition of BMP4 in early mandibular arch (E9-E10) by applying Noggin beads extends Barx1 expression domain to the distal incisor regions and downregulates endogenous expression of Msx1 leading to the transformation of incisor to molar teeth (Tucker et al., 1998). Another example is *Dlx1/Dlx2* double knockout mice. Dlx1 and Dlx2 are also expressed in the proximal molar-forming ectomesenchyme prior to the initial manifestation of tooth development (E10). Dlx1 and Dlx2 double knockout mice show developmental defects in the maxillary molars. However, the mandibular molars and incisors developed normally, suggesting that Dlx1 and Dlx2 are only specifically required for mesenchymal cells in the maxillary molars, but not for mandibular molars (Qiu et al., 1997; Thomas et al., 1997). Most notably the double mutant maxillary ectomesenchyme is reprogrammed to a chondrogenic fate, but not to an incisor fate. This feature implicates that the loss of "molar" patterning genes and the gain of "incisor" patterning genes may both be required for an incisor formation. Detailed analysis showed that only *Dlx1* and Dlx2 are expressed in the upper jaws, whilst the other Dlx genes, Dlx1-6, are all expressed in overlapping domains in the mandibular primordial. The redundancy with other *Dlx* genes in mandibular molar regions may cause the regional defects in the maxillary molars. It thus appears that the tooth identify is not determined by only one specific gene but by many different genes, whose overlapping and combinational activities (presence and also absence) determines

the tooth shape (Cobourne and Sharpe, 2003).

Similar initiation to the of odontogenesis, the establishment of different domains of homeobox genes in the mesenchyme is also determined by spatially distributed ectodermal signals, which induce and maintain the expression patterns of homeoboxcontaining genes in the dental mesenchyme. It has been shown that before E10.5, removal of epithelium from the mandibular arch downregulates almost all the mesenchymal homeobox genes. FGF8 in the proximal region of oral ectoderm is able to induce a number of homeobox genes, including Barx1, Dlx1, -2, Lhx6, -7, Pax9, and Msx1. Conditional mutation of the Fgf8 gene in the first branchial arch epithelium results in the absence of all the molars, whilst the distal region lower incisors develop normally, suggesting that Fgf8 controls the large proximal region of the facial primordia but not distal part (Trumpp et al., 1999). BMPs upregulate Msx1, -2, Dlx2, but inhibit Barx1 and Pax9 expression. SHH signal induces Gli1, -2, -3 expressions (Vainio et al., 1993; Bei and Mass, 1998; Hardcastle et al., 1998; Tucker et al., 1999). After E11.5, the mesenchymal homeobox gene expression is no longer dependent on the overlying epithelium. Hence, before E11.5, the oral epithelium possesses the odontogenic ability and determines the tooth type (Kollar and Baird, 1969; Mina and Kollar 1987; Lumsden 1988; Kollar and Mina, 1991). After E11.5, when the homeobox code domains has been established and fixed, the dental mesenchyme acquires the odontogenic ability and signals back to the dental epithelium regulating the tooth identity and their morphogenesis (Ferguson et al., 2000). The molecular mechanisms regulating of the patterning the early epithelial signals remains unknown.

It is noticeable that although oral ectoderm is the source of initial signals instructing tooth development, the underlying neural crest derived mesenchymal cells seem to respond differently to the epithelial signals in certain genetic pathways. For example, FGF8 can induce *Dlx2* in both upper and lower jaw mesenchyme, but it can induce Dlx5 only in the mandibular mesenchyme, not in the maxillary mesenchyme. On the other hand, maxillary oral epithelium is still able to Dlx5induce in mandibular ectomesenchyme, suggesting that the upper and lower jaw mesenchyme behave fundamentally different from each other (Ferguson et al., 2000). Targeted mutation of the activin  $\beta A$  gene in mice generates reversed tooth phenotype to that of Dlx1/Dlx2 double mutants, where the development of activin BA mutant mouse incisors and lower molars is arrested at the bud stage whilst upper molars developed normally. This phenotype cannot be explained by the redundancy of other TGF $\beta$  family signals since activin  $\beta A/\beta B$  double knockout mice show similar tooth phenotype with activin  $\beta A$  mutants. Moreover, activin's downstream target gene, follistatin, is downregulated in both upper and lower jaws, indicating that the maxillary molars may use some other signaling pathways for its development (Ferguson et al., 1998). As neural crest cells in the maxillary and mandibular primordia are actually derived from distinct regions of the neural tube (although very close with

each other), it is reasonable to hypothesize that these ectomesenchymal cells may have been slightly prepatterned. Therefore even small changes in their competence to the epithelial signals may lead to the different tooth shapes between upper and lower jaws.

# 1.2.2. Early epithelial signaling center

Between the dental lamina and early bud stage (E11.5-E12), a transient early epithelial signaling center forms at the tip of the budding cells expressing locally a number of molecules including Bmp2, Shh, Wnt10a, as well as p21, Msx2, and Lef1 (Jernvall and Thesleff, 2000). Signaling centers, such as the apical ectodermal ridge (AER) in the limb bud and the isthmus in the central nervous system, are defined as a group of cells that regulate the behaviour of surrounding cells by providing positive negative intercellular signals and (Hogan, 1999). It has been proposed that at the early developmental stage, the oral epithelium induces mesenchymal signals (Mina and Kollar, 1987; Lumsden, 1988). The mesenchymal signals then reciprocally act on the dental epithelium forming the early epithelial signaling center, now called the dental placode, morphological which shares and molecular similarities with placodes in other ectodermal organs (Pispa and Thesleff, 2003). Signals from the epithelial signaling center may function in maintenance and restriction of the previously induced mesenchymal genes, but may also induce new genes in the mesenchyme. It has been suggested that the dental mesenchymal cells may

acquire the full competence to induce tooth development only after receiving signals sent back from this early epithelial signaling center (Jernvall and 2000). Thesleff, Two signaling molecules, Bmp4 and activin  $\beta A$ , have been suggested to act as the reciprocal mesenchymal signals for the induction of early epithelial signaling center and initiation of tooth bud formation (Jernvall and Thesleff, 2000). Bmp4 is initially expressed in the oral ectoderm and is able to induce *Msx1* expression in the underlying mesenchyme (Vainio et al., 1993). At E11.5, corresponding to the odontogenic shift from dental epithelium to the mesenchyme, Bmp4 expression also shifts to the underlying dental mesenchyme and forms a positive regulatory loop with Msx1 (Vainio et al., 1993: Mina and Kollar, 1987). Meanwhile, Msx1, which was widely expressed in the facial mesenchyme at the initiation stage, becomes restricted to the tooth bud regions (Cobourne and Sharpe, 2003). Bmp4 is also able to induce in the expression of p21 in the dental epithelium. P21 is a cycline dependent kinase inhibitor associated with stop of cell proliferation and has been shown to be expressed in a number of signaling centers (Jernvall et al., 1998). Activin  $\beta A$ , which is induced by epithelial FGF signals, is expressed in the dental mesenchyme at E11.5. Targeted mutation of the activin  $\beta A$  gene in mice results in the development of tooth germs arrested at the bud stage (incisors and lower molars). However, exogenous Activin A protein can only rescue the mutant tooth phenotype at E11.5, but not at a later stage such as E13.5, implicating the early requirement of this signal during tooth development (Ferguson et al., 1998).

### **1.2.3.** Primary enamel knot and bud to cap stage transition

When the tooth bud has reached its full size it folds and invaginates forming a cap-shaped structure surrounding the mesenchymal dental papilla. Meanwhile a new signaling center, the primary enamel knot, forms at the tip of the enamel organ. The transition from bud to cap stage is a critical step in tooth development since many knockout mice have the tooth germs arrested at this stage, such as Msx1, Lef1, Pax9, Runx2, and activin  $\beta A$  mutants (Satokata and Maas, 1994; Kratochwil et al., 1996; Peters et al., 1998; D'Souza et al., 1999; Ferguson et al., 1998). In all of them, the formation of the enamel knot is affected. Hence, the primary enamel knot has been suggested to be a prerequisite for the tooth bud to develop into cap stage. The primary enamel knot is a nonproliferating transient structure (Jernvall et al., 1998; Jernvall and Thesleff, 2000), but it may regulate the growth of the flanking epithelial cervical loops and may also provide a fixed point for the epithelial folding. The primary enamel knot starts to form at the late bud stage and is marked by the centralized expression of a number of molecules, including Fgf9, Bmp2, Bmp7, Shh, Wnt10b, Msx2, Edar, p21, and follistatin (Vaahtokari et al., 1996; Kettunen and Thesleff, 1998; Dassule and McMahon, 1998; Laurikkala et al., 2001; Jernvall et al., 1998; Heikinheimo et al., 1997). By the cap stage, when the primary enamel knot is histologically recognizable as a cluster of condensed cells at the tip of the tooth germ, some other molecules such as *Fgf4*, *Bmp4*, *Wnt3*, and *Wnt10a* are also upregulated in this region (Kettunen and Thesleff, 1998; Åberg et al., 1997; Sarkar and Sharpe, 1999).

The formation and function of the enamel knot is tightly regulated by the epithelial-mesenchymal reciprocal interactions. The induction of the primary enamel knot may involve signals from the dental mesenchyme. in particular BMP4. In vitro bead experiments have shown that BMP4 can induce the expression of two enamel knot marker genes, p21 and Msx2 in the dental epithelium (Jernvall et al., 1998). Bmp4 expression is downregulated in *Pax9* and *Msx1* knockout mouse dental mesenchyme. Moreover, exogenous BMP4 protein can almost completely rescue Msx1 mutant tooth phenotype, suggesting that mesenchymal BMP4 signaling may reciprocally act on the dental epithelium for further tooth development (Chen et al., 1996; Bei and Maas, 1998; Bei et al., 2000; Peters et al., 1998).

Lef1 is a member of the high mobility group (HMG) family DNA-binding proteins. Lefl is expressed in the dental mesenchyme and in the enamel knot region at bud and cap stages. In Lefl mutant mice tooth development is also arrested at the bud stage, which is similar to Msx1 mutants (Kratochwil et al., 1996). However, detailed tissue recombination experiments between *Lef1* mutant and wild type mouse dental tissues demonstrated that Lef1 is only transiently required in the dental epithelium for inducing *Fgf4* expression in the enamel knot. Lef1 is dispensable in the dental mesenchyme, which may be

due to the redundancy with other TCF/ LEF transcription factors. Since the Lef1 mutant tooth phenotype can be rescued by either epithelial or mesenchymal FGF proteins, a signaling pathway has been proposed where Lef1 upregulates Fgf4 in the primary enamel knot region. FGF4 signaling is transduced to the dental mesenchyme where it induces the expression of mesenchymal Fgfs, which then reciprocally acts on the dental epithelium and stimulates cell proliferation in the cervical loops (Kratochwil et al., 1996, 2002). Lefl may also integrate Wnt and BMP signaling, as well as cell adhesion via Ecadherin (Teaford et al., 2000). Both Wnt and BMP can induce Lefl expression in the dental mesenchyme and Lef1 interacts intracellularly with βcatenin, which also regulates cell adhesion with E-cadherin (Dassule and McMahon, 1998). Shh is an early enamel knot marker gene and has been shown to repress Wnt10b expression in the dental epithelium (Dassule and McMahon, 1998). Activin BA is a signaling molecule expressed in the dental mesenchyme (Heikinheimo et al., 1997; Ferguson et al., 1998). It can reciprocally act on the dental epithelium expression and stimulate the of ectodysplasin receptor Edar in the enamel knot (Laurikkala et al., 2001). Thus, it is apparent that various signaling pathways are linked during bud to cap stage transition and that the enamel knot plays a critical role in integrating these pathways (Thesleff and Mikkola, 2002a).

# 1.2.4. Secondary enamel knots and cusp formation

Between E14.5 and E15, when the primary enamel knot has fulfilled its task, it rapidly undergoes apoptosis and progressively disappears except for its anterior portion, in which area forms the first secondary enamel knot (Jernvall and Thesleff, 2000). Subsequent secondary enamel knots form sequentially at the tips of future cusps within the tooth crown base. Similar to the primary enamel knot, secondary enamel knots are also composed of packed and nonproliferative cells showing centralized expression of *Fgf4*, and are removed by apoptosis (Vaahtokari et al., 1996; Coin et al., 1999a). However, the secondary enamel knots do not show as much morphological difference from the adjacent tissues as the primary enamel knot. In addition, p21, Shh, and Fgf9 are expressed more broadly than in the primary enamel knot.

It has been proposed that the cap stage dental mesenchyme regulates the primary enamel knot formation, which then determines the tooth crown base and subsequent secondary enamel knot formation. In vitro heterotopic epithelial mesenchymal and recombination experiments demonstrate that E14 cap stage dental mesenchyme controls individual molar cusp patterning, even the mirror symmetry of right and left handed teeth (Schmitt et al., 1999). The distance between adjacent secondary enamel knots may be regulated by the antagonistic interactions between cusp activators (e.g. FGFs) and cusp inhibitors (e.g. BMPs). Position, time and order of appearance of these secondary enamel knots define the

location and relative height and size of cusps for a species-specific tooth shape (Jernvall and Thesleff, 2000). This has been well illustrated by comparison of enamel knots and tooth crowns in two closely related rodents, mice and voles (Keränen et al., 1999). More evidence comes from the study of spontaneous Tabby mutant mice, in which the molar crowns are small and flattened with fused and fewer cusps (Gruneberg, 1971). Correspondingly, the mutant primary enamel knot is small and most secondary enamel knots are fused. Although the primary enamel knot expresses all the signal molecules analyzed, the expression levels are greatly reduced. Hence, the cusp defects in *Tabby* mutant mice can be traced back to the early stage small tooth germs, which results in a small sized primary enamel knot and thus limited tooth crown base leading to the fusion of secondary enamel knots and the following cusps. It thus appears that early disturbance in the primary enamel knot can affect the later cusp formation (Pispa et al., 1999). Mutations in the human homologues of Tabby gene, as well as its receptor downless and intracellular adaptor crinkled, can cause similar ectodermal congenital defects anhidrotic (or hypodrotic) named ectodermal dysplasia syndrome (HED) comprising hypodontia of the teeth (Headon et al., 2001; Monreal et al., 1999; Thesleff and Mikkola, 2002b; Yan et al., 2002).

FGF signals have been suggested to be involved in the regulation of growth and folding of the enamel organ during advancing tooth morphogenesis. FGF proteins can stimulate cell proliferation in both dental epithelium and dental mesenchyme (Jernvall et al., 1994; Kettunen and Thesleff, 1998). There are abundant FGF receptors expressed in the epithelial cervical loop regions and in the dental papilla mesenchyme, but none in the enamel knot cells. In contrast, Fgf3, Fgf4, and Fgf9 transcripts are restricted in the enamel knot nonproliferating cells. Fgf3 is also expressed in the dental mesenchyme and Fgf10 expression is confined to the dental mesenchyme (Kettunen et al., 2000). In transgenic mice over-expressing a dominant negative FGF receptor and in mutant mice lacking a functional FGFR2 receptor IIIb, tooth germs failed to develop beyond the bud stage (Celli et al., 1998; de Moerlooze et al., 2000). In vitro experiments have shown that epithelial FGFs (FGF4 and FGF8) can induce mesenchymal Fgf3 expression, whereas mesenchymal FGF10 can only stimulate cell proliferation in the dental epithelium but not in the dental mesenchyme (Kettunen et al., 2000). Therefore, FGF signals may mediate the interactions between dental epithelium and mesenchyme, and stimulate the proliferation of epithelial cells forming cervical loops, as well as the underlying mesenchymal cells forming the dental papilla.

Shh signaling was shown to be required for the asymmetrical growth of the enamel organ. Conditional deletion of *Shh* under keratin 14 promoter in mice results in small and abnormally shaped tooth with defects in lingual cervical loop growth and missing dental cord (Dassule et al., 2000). *Shh* is expressed in the epithelial enamel knot region. However, the action of Shh on the dental epithelium is not direct, since ablation of Smoothened, the receptor of Shh, in the epithelium, does not inhibit cervical loop formation, suggesting that Shh functions on the dental mesenchyme which then reciprocally regulates the growth of the epithelial cervical loops (Gritli-Linde et al., 2002).

### **1.3.** Cell differentiation of the tooth

As in early tooth morphogenesis, cell differentiation of the tooth is also governed by sequential and reciprocal interactions between epithelial and mesenchymal tissues. Terminal differentiation of the cells requires both temporally and spatially regulated epigenetic signals and the cells to be competent to the signals. The signaling is mediated by soluble growth factors, their receptors, transcription factors, extracellular matrix, as well as cell adhesion molecules. Cell-cell junctions may also play a role in these processes. Compared to the active studies on the early stage of tooth development, information concerning the molecular regulation of odontoblast and ameloblast cell differentiation is quite limited. This is mainly due to the reiterative use of the same signals or signaling pathways development resulting during in knockout mice with either early embryonic lethality or arrested tooth development before cap stage (Jernvall and Thesleff, 2000; Thesleff, 2003; Thesleff and Mikkola, 2002a). Direct investigation of ameloblast and odontoblast differentiation has also been hindered by the difficulty to isolate pure populations of a limited number of cells in the tooth. Since dentin is quite similar to bone, studies on the odontoblasts have

extrapolated a lot from the information of bone cell biology.

#### 1.3.1. Odontoblast differentiation

**Odontoblasts** are tall columnar postmitotic cells that differentiate according to a specific temporal and spatial pattern. Dental papilla mesenchymal cells are seemingly uniform in appearance with large nuclei, sparse cytoplasm, and few organelles. Only the mesenchymal cells adjacent to the inner dental epithelium and in contact with the basement membrane differentiate into odontoblasts. Preodontoblasts are initially cylindrical organizing in a single layer at the peripheral of the dental papilla. As differentiation proceeds, these cells elongate and polarize with an obvious increase in the number of organelles and movement of the nucleus away from the basement membrane. When synthesizing and secreting dentin matrix. the odontoblasts form long cell processes that become embedded in the dentin matrix (Ruch, 1987). The dentin matrix proteins consist of type I collagen (approximately 86%) and some noncollagenous proteins. including proteoglycans, glycoproteins, and dentin sialophosphoprotein (DSPP) (MacDougall et al., 1998). Several odontoblast cell lines have been established from dental mesenchyme or dental pulp cells for studying the function and regulation of odontoblasts (MacDougall et al., 1995; Couble et al., 2000).

Classical tissue recombination experiments have confirmed that

differentiation of odontoblasts is controlled by the inner dental epithelium (Thesleff and Hurmerinta, 1981; Ruch et al., 1995). Preodontoblasts never give rise to a functional odontoblast layer when the dental papillae are isolated and cultured alone (Kollar and Baird, 1969). Since the differentiation of odontoblasts starts from the tips of the cusps, directly underneath the secondary enamel knot, it has been proposed that signals from the secondary enamel knot may regulate the terminal differentiation of odontoblasts (Thesleff, 2000).

The growth factors that have been shown to stimulate the odontoblasts differentiation in vitro include TGFB superfamily signals, FGFs, nerve growth factor (NGF) and insulin-like growth factor (IGF) (Vaahtokari et al., 1991; Cam et al., 1992; Mitsiadis and Luukko, 1995; Joseph et al., 1993). In vitro culture of dental papilla in agar solidified medium with different growth factors demonstrated that TGFB superfamily proteins, including TGF<sup>β</sup>1, -3, and BMP2, -4, -6, are all able to induce polarization of pre-odontoblasts and stimulate matrix secretion when combined with heparin or fibronectin (Begue-Kirn et al., 1992, 1994; Martin et al., 1998; Ruch, 1998; Lesot et al., 2001). Heparin or fibronectin alone had no effect, but they may alter the interaction of growth factors with the extracellular matrix and potentiate the activities of the signals, or restrict the diffusion of growth factors to the cultured tissues. Follistatin, which is expressed in preameloblasts, is also able to promote odontoblast differentiation in vitro. The combination of follistatin protein with heparin produces a more pronounced effect. It has been proposed that follistatin may block the mitogenic effect of activin and facilitate the terminal differentiation of odontoblasts (Heikinheimo et al., 1997, 1998). FGF1 or FGF2 protein alone does not stimulate odontoblast differentiation. Α of FGF1 and combination FGF2 treatment only causes pre-odontoblast cell polarization, but no matrix secretion. However, the combination of FGF1 and TGFβ1 protein appears to work in a synergistic manner and can induce functional odontoblast differentiation in vitro, including polarization of the cells and secretion of extracellular matrix similar to predentin. Treatment of dental papilla with FGF2 and TGF $\beta$ 1 only stimulated cytological but not functional differentiation of pre-odontoblasts (Unda et al., 2000). IGF1 is not expressed in the tooth germs, but exogenous IGF1, combined with heparin, stimulates extended polarization of preodontoblasts without apical matrix deposition (Begue-Kirn et al., 1994). Shh is not necessary for the differentiation of odontoblasts and ameloblasts. but for the normal organization of these cell layers. In conditional knockout mice with deletion of Shh activity under keratin 14 promoter, the polarity and organization of the odontoblasts and ameloblasts were disrupted, although the differentiation of odontoblasts and ameloblasts was not affected (Dassule et al., 2000).

During cell differentiation of the tooth, basement membrane at the tissue interface may act as a substrate and as a reservoir of paracrine signaling molecules (Meyer et al., 1983; Lesot et al., 2002). The basement membrane is a dynamic remodelling and asymmetric structure consisting of basal lamina and the lamina fibroreticularis, including laminin1, collagen type IV, nidogen, and heparin sulfate (Merker, 1994; Lesot, During 2000). odontoblast differentiation, fibronectin. which surrounds pre-odontoblasts, is redistributed and accumulates at the apical pole of the polarizing odontoblasts (Lesot et al., 1981; Thesleff and Hurmerinta, 1981). A non-integrin 165kDa fibronectin binding protein is also transiently expressed at the apical pole of odontoblasts. The interactions between this protein and fibronectin may reorganize microfilaments inside the cells for the polarization of odontoblasts (Lesot et al., 1990, 1992). Latent TGF<sup>β</sup> binding protein (LTBP) is also present at the epithelial-mesenchymal interface and may target and activate TGF<sup>β</sup> proteins (Flaumenhaft, 1993; Ruch, 1998). Functional odontoblasts express and secrete gelatinase A. which may contribute to the degradation of basement membrane at the tissue interface (Sahlberg et al., 1999).

Besides epigenetic inducing signals, the expression of competence of preodontoblasts is also necessary for the terminal differentiation of these cells. Heterochronal recombination between tissues from different developmental stages cannot give rise to anticipated differentiation of odontoblasts (Ruch et al., 1995). The expression of specific receptors or matrix molecules with affinity for growth factors is required for responding to the induction signals. It has been hypothesized that in order to become the competent responding cells, preodontoblasts have to count their cell divisions and reach a minimal number of cell cycles (Ruch et al., 1995; Lesot, 2000). Based on that, the following

model has been proposed: TGFB superfamily signals or other growth factors secreted by preameloblasts may be trapped and activated by the basement membrane and stimulate terminal differentiation of preodontoblasts. The gradient of functional odontoblast in the tooth cusp is generated by the gradual emergence competent of preodontoblasts, which is related to their withdrawal sequential from the asynchronic cell (Schmitt and Ruch, 2000).

#### 1.3.2. Ameloblast differentiation

Preameloblasts derived are from precursor cells in the inner dental epithelium of the enamel organ. Upon differentiation, preameloblasts reverse their polarity and the originally basal basement membrane contacting end becomes structurally and functionally the apical end. Their sizes increase dramatically with extensive development redistribution of cytoplasmic and organelles (Ten Cate, 1998). Secretory ameloblasts are highly columnar and polarized with oval-shaped nuclei elongated along the apical-basal axis. Meanwhile, the overlying stratum intermedium cells also increase in size and become cuboidal. Functional ameloblasts synthesize and secrete a number of enamel matrix proteins, including amelogenin, ameloblastin, enamelin. tuftelin. dentin sialophosphoprotin (DSPP), laminin 5, as well as proteolytic enzymes belonging to the metalloprotease and serine protease families for degradation of matrix proteins during maturation stage of enamel formation (Robinson et al.,

1995, 1998). After deposition of the full thickness of enamel matrix, postsecretory ameloblasts shrink in size and stop secretion of enamel matrix. During this transitional stage, about one quarter of ameloblasts undergo apoptosis. During the following maturation stage, another one-quarter of the cells die by apoptosis. The remaining ameloblasts become short and small and together with outer dental epithelium form protective layers on the enamel until the eruption of the tooth into the oral cavity (Smith, 1998).

Reciprocal epithelial-mesenchymal interactions also regulate ameloblast differentiation. Preameloblasts never differentiate into ameloblasts when the isolated enamel organ is cultured in vitro alone. Differentiation of ameloblasts requires the presence of functional odontoblasts and/or predentin-dentin matrix. It is remarkable that even cellfree predentin-dentin matrix is able to stimulate functional ameloblast differentiation in vitro (Karcher-Djuricic et al., 1985). When preodontoblasts differentiate into functional odontoblasts and start to secrete dentin matrix, the basement membrane breaks and degrades allowing direct interactions between preameloblasts and predentindentin (Ruch, 1987). Secretion of enamel matrix is only initiated when the dentin matrix starts to mineralize (Boukari and Ruch, 1981; Coin et al., 1999a).

TGF $\beta$ s and Bmp2 are expressed in odontoblasts and these proteins have also been reported to be trapped in predentin-dentin matrix (Begue-Kirn et al., 1994; Smith, 1998). Exogenously added TGF $\beta$ 1 and BMP2 proteins can induce cytodifferention of ameloblasts. In addition, BMP2 coated apatite is able to induce functional differentiation of ameloblasts as indicated by secretion of amelogenin, whereas TGFB1 coated apatite does not have this effect. The special role of apatite in this process is still unknown. Cytokine interleukin 7 (IL-7) has also been suggested to be involved in maintaining the polarization state of ameloblasts (Coin et al., 1999). Laminin5 is expressed in the inner dental epithelium and functional ameloblasts, and may be related to the ameloblast differentiation (Yoshiba, 2000). Bmp2, Bmp4, Bmp5, and Bmp7 have also been reported to be expressed in the differentiated ameloblats (Åberg et al., 1997; Heikinheimo et al., 1998).

Although the dental papilla mesenchyme is necessary for functional differentiation of dental epithelial cells into ameloblasts, recent studies have shown that signaling within the dental epithelium, such as Shh, is also needed for the proper cytodifferentiation of ameloblasts in vivo (Gritli-Linde et al., 2002). Shh is expressed strongly in both proliferating preameloblasts and differentiated ameloblasts. There are also intense Shh signals in the stratum intermedium cells. Smoothened is a multi-pass membrane receptor for transduction of Shh signals into the cell. Conditional removal of smoothened activity from the dental epithelium results in the deletion of Shh signaling in the enamel organ without affecting the signaling in the dental mesenchyme. Conditional smoothened mutant mice exhibit cuboidal shaped ameloblasts with centrally located round nuclei. The mutant preameloblasts withdraw from the cell cycle prior to dentin secretion and undergo premature differentiation. Although the mutant ameloblasts express

molecular markers several of differentiated cells. Tomes's no processes form at the apical end and the enamel matrix is absent. Thus, Shh is necessary for regulating cell proliferation within the dental epithelium and controlling proper cytodifferentiation of preameloblasts. It is noticeable that *Patched 2* and *Gli1*, which are the downstream target genes of Shh, exhibit polarized localization in the secretory ameloblasts with enriched expression at the basal and perinuclear compartment. Conversely, Patched 1, Msx2, and Dlx3 transcripts are enriched apically. It is therefore proposed that signaling from the stratum intermedium may play a role in the asymmetric distribution of these RNAs (Gritli-Linde et al., 2002). It appears that preodontoblasts and preameloblasts in association with stratum intermedium. basement membrane, and extracellular matrix constitute a dynamic developmental unit leading to coordinated cell differentiation of the tooth

To date, several knockout or transgenic mouse models have been established exhibiting enamel defects. For example, in the transgenic mice with over-expression of ectodysplasin under keratin 14 promoter, enamel is absent in the incisors (Mustonen et al., 2003). Wnt3 is normally expressed in stratum intermedium, stellate reticulum, and outer dental epithelial cells, but not in the ameloblasts. Over- and ectopicexpression of *Wnt3* in the whole dental epithelium under keratin 14 promoter causes progressive loss of ameloblasts in postnatal adult mouse incisors, which has been explained by defects in the proliferation of preameloblasts or stem cells (Millar et al., 2003).

A characteristic feature of rodents is that their incisors erupt continuously throughout life by virtue of stem cells in the cervical loops at the base of the tooth (Smith and Warshawsky, 1975, 1976; Harada et al., 1999, 2002). In addition, enamel is solely formed on the labial side of the incisors, whereas the lingual surface is enamel-free and only covered by dentin. It has therefore been thought to be the root-analogue area (Fig. 2). Odontoblasts and dentin matrix are distributed similarly on both labial and lingual surfaces of incisors. Classical tissue recombination experiments have shown that the lingual side dental epithelium has lost the ability to differentiate into ameloblasts, whilst lingual side dental mesenchyme is still able to trigger ameloblast differentiation when recombined with labial side dental epithelium of incisors or with the inner dental epithelium of molars (Amar et al., 1986, 1989). There are also some enamel-free areas on the occlusal surface of the molar crowns Studies on the matrix in the enamel-free area have revealed that it is actually composed of a mixture of enamel and cementum related proteins. There also exist secretory cells capable of enamel-like matrix secretion, including amelogenin, ameloblastin, and sialophosphoproteins bone (BSP) (Sakakura et al., 1989; Bosshardt and Nanci, 1997; Bosshardt et al., 1998). However, these cells are not polarized and do not have Tome's process as the normal ameloblasts. In addition, the enamel matrix in the enamel free area is irregular with some of the enamel matrix even between the epithelial cells (Nakamura et al., 1991). The molecular mechanism of the formation of the enamel-free areas remains unknown yet.



**Fig.2. Schematic view of mouse incisor development.** After initiation, the incisor bud rotates anteroposteriorly parallel to the long axis of the incisor. At the late bell stage, only the labial side dental epithelial cells differentiate into ameloblasts giving rise to enamel. There is no ameloblast differentiation and enamel formation on the lingual surface. Odontoblasts and dentin are distributed similarly on the labial and lingual aspects. The stem cells in the cervical loop region support the continuous growth of mouse incisors.

#### 1.4. Runx2 in embryogenesis

In 1997, four papers were published in the same issue of Cell confirming that *Cbfa1*, now named as *Runx2*, is a key regulator of osteoblast differentiation and bone formation (Ducy et al., 1997; Mundlos et al., 1997; Otto et al., 1997; Komori et al., 1997). The knockout mice die at birth and have no bones and teeth. Heterozygous mutant mice are viable but show a number of skeletal changes that are phenotypically similar to those observed in the human skeletal syndrome, cleidocranial dysplasia (CCD). Since then, extensive studies have been performed on identifying the structure, function, and regulation of *Runx2* gene.

## 1.4.1. Structure and biological function of Runx2

Runx2 is a runt domain transcription factor. which is the mammalian homologue of the fly Drosophila genes runt and lozenge. In mammals, there are three Runx genes, Runx1 (Cbfa2/ Pebp2 $\alpha$ B /Aml1), Runx2 (Cbfa1/ Pebp2aA /Aml3), and Runx3 (Cbfa3/ Pebp2 $\alpha$ C /Aml2). They encode the  $\alpha$ subunit protein which, together with  $\beta$  subunit protein, another form heterodimeric complexes. The  $\beta$  subunit is encoded by the CBF $\beta$  gene. It does not bind or contact DNA itself but can increase the binding affinity of Runx protein to DNA and perhaps also Runx from degradation stabilize (Coffman, 2003; Ito and Miyazono, 2003). Inactivation of CBFβ dramatically eliminates the function of Runx protein (Huang et al., 2001).

Runt domain proteins bind to DNA through the runt domain, which is a 128 amino acid motif highly conserved among distinctly related species (Fig. 3). The runt domain can direct DNA binding of Runx proteins, and also contributes to protein-protein interactions. ATP binding, and nuclear localization (Crute et al., 1996; Kanno et al., 1998). The Nterminal region is rich in glutamine and alanine repeats (Q/A). Toward the Cterminus is a proline/serine/threonine (P/ S/T) rich region, which is necessary for nuclear matrix targeting, transcriptional activation or repression of target genes, and also contains phosphorylation sites for MAP kinases (Thirunavukkarasu et al., 1998; Xiao et al., 2000, 2002; Coffman, 2003). Most Runx proteins terminate with a common pentapeptide, valine-tryptophan-arginine-prolinetyrosine (VWRPY; Fig. 3) which serves to recruit the Groucho/TLE family of corepressors (Levanon et al., 1998; Javed et al., 2001).

Runt domain transcription factors bind to the core site of 5-PYGPYGGT-3' on a number of enhancers and promoters, including murine leukemia virus, polyomavirus enhancer (Ducy et al., 1997; Karsenty and Wangner, 2002).



Fig. 3. Schematic representation of the Runx2 protein. Runx2 protein is composed of a glutamine/alanine-rich region (Q/A) in the N-terminal region, a centrally located DNA binding domain and nuclear localization signal (NLS), and the C-terminal proline/serine/threo-nine-rich (P/S/T) region.

The three Runx proteins can bind to the same DNA motif and interact with a common transcriptional modulator (Ito, 1999). However, they are reported to mediate distinct biological functions *in vivo* (Okuda et al., 1996; Speck and Gilliland, 2002; Ducy et al., 1997; Levanon et al., 2002; Li et al., 2002).

Runx2 knockout mice die soon after birth. The most remarkable finding in the mutant mice was that the bone was completely missing. Skeletal staining revealed only some calcified cartilage left in the mutants (Komori et al., 1997; Otto et al., 1997). Molecular analysis using osteoblast cell lines confirmed that Runx2 is the earliest specific marker of osteoblast lineage and that its expression is both necessary and sufficient for osteoblast differentiation (Ducy et al., 1997). Abrogation of Runx2 activity disturbs osteoblast differentiation in both intramembranous and endochondral ossification. Runx2 can directly stimulate transcription of a number of osteoblast-related genes, including osteocalcin (OCN), type I collagen, and collagenase (Ducy et al., 1997; Kern et al., 2001; Selvamurugan et al., 1998). In addition, Runx2 also has a positive role in the differentiation of hypertrophic chondrocytes during endochondral ossification. In Runx2 mutant mice, conversion of proliferating chondrocytes into hypertrophic chondrocytes is very slow (Unda et al., 2000).

*Runx2* heterozygous mice are viable but show a number of skeletal changes which are phenotypically similar to those observed in the human CCD syndrome (Mundlos et al., 1997). Genetic studies revealed that CCD is an autosomal dominant congenital disorder caused by the lack of function of one allele of Runx2 gene (haploinsufficiency) (Mundlos et al., 1997). CCD patients are characterized by general bone dysplasia with short stature, hypoplasia or aplasia of clavicles, patent fontanelles, and wormian bones (additional cranial plates caused by abnormal ossification of the calvaria), as well as supernumerary teeth and unerupted teeth in the permenant dentition. The phenotype of CCD patients varies among individuals, and some patients only exhibit dental anomalies and are thus first identified in clinic by the dentists (Jensen, 1990; Kreiborg et al., 1999; Quack et al., 1999). CCD syndrome shows variable clinical severity. A number of mutations have been reported in the RUNX2 gene, such as deletion, insertion, missense, nonsense, or frameshift mutation. Most of the mutations affect the runt DNA binding domain and this further emphasizes the importance of amino acid conservation in this region (Lee et al., 1997; Mundlos, 1999; Quack et al., 1999).

*Runx1* is essential for hematopoiesis and angiogenesis. In humans, about 30% of leukemia cases are caused by loss of function mutations of *Runx*, and most of them are chromosomal translocations with fusion of the N-terminal region of Runx1 (containing the entire runt domain) to the C-terminus of another gene. Runx1 knockout mice exhibit early embryonic lethality with massive hemorrhage, which is caused by the lack of definitive hematopoietic stem cells and defective angiogenesis (Okuda et al., 1996; Wang et al., 1996; Speck and Gilliland. 2002). Runx3 controls neurogenesis in the dorsal root ganglia and is also shown to be the major tumour

suppressor of gastric cancer (Levanon et al., 2002; Li et al., 2002).

#### 1.4.2. Regulation of Runx2 activity

All three mammalian Runx genes exhibit two alternative promoters, a distal promoter P1 and a proximal promoter P2. Different Runx products transcribed from the different promoters may have distinct functions (Bangsow et al., 2001; Coffman, 2003). In addition, mammalian Runx genes can generate alternatively spliced transcripts (Levanon et al., 1996; Bangsow et al., 2001). Three alternative products of Runx2 have been identified in humans and nine in mice These differently spliced Runx proteins may different play roles during embryogenesis.

To date, most of the information concerning regulation and function of the Runx2 gene comes from studies on osteoblasts. BMP, the critical inducer of osteoblast differentiation and bone formation, has been shown to upregulate Runx2 expression in osteoblasts (Ducy et al., 1997). BMP-induced osteogenic signaling pathway is mediated by Runx2, and mutated Runx2 cannot transmit BMP signaling to the downstream target genes (Zhang et al., 2000). It has been noticed that the expression level of Runx2 does not always correlate with its activity in vivo. The activity of Runx2 is also modulated at the post-translational level. Runx2 can be phosphorylated and activated by the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway, which may be stimulated either by extracellular matrix binding to integrin on the cell surface or by FGF2. The classic PKA pathway activated by parathyroid

hormone/parathyroid hormone related peptide is also able to phosphorylate and Runx2 activate protein (Thirunavukkarasu et al., 1998; Nugent and Iozzo, 2000; D'Alonzo et al., 2002). The activity of Runx2 can be also altered by direct interactions with other partner transcription factors such as Smads, AP-1 factors, and Twist (Fainsod et al., 1997; Bialek et al., 2004). Runx can form a complex with Smads, the mediators of TGFB/BMP signaling, and function synergistically to regulate the target genes (Lee et al., 2000; Hanai et al., 1999; Pardali et al., 2000; Ito and Miyazono, 2003). Recent studies have shown that Runx2 activity is inhibited by the helix-loop-helix containing transcription factor Twist. Twist can inhibit osteoblast differentiation without affecting the expression of Runx2. In vitro experiments demonstrate that twist protein can directly interact with the runt domain of Runx2 protein and decrease the DNA binding activity of Runx2 and thereby its transactivation function. Double heterozygous Twist1+/-; Runx2 +/- mice can rescue the calvarial phenotype in Runx2 + - mice, and double Twist2+/-; Runx2 +/- can rescue the clavicle phenotype of *Runx2* +/- mice. Thus, the initiation of osteoblast differentiation mav actually be determined by the relief of inhibition of Runx2 protein by Twist proteins (Bialek et al., 2004).

Osterix, a zinc finger containing transcription factor, was shown to act downstream of Runx2 during osteoblast differentiation. In *Osterix* null mutant mice, no endochodral and no intramembranous bone formation occurs, but the expression of *Runx2* is normal.

*Osterix* mutant mice do not have tooth defects (Nakashima et al., 2002).

#### 1.4.3. Runx2 in tooth development

Detailed analysis of Runx2 in the tooth region showed that Runx2 is required for advancing tooth morphogenesis and histodifferentiation (D'Souza et al., 1999). In mice, Runx2 expression was first detectable in the tooth region at E12, with only weak signals in the dental mesenchyme. At E13 bud stage, Runx2 expression is intensely upregulated with strong signals in the condensed dental mesenchymal cells contacting the tip of the tooth bud. By the E14 cap stage, Runx2 remains intense and restricted to the dental mesenchyme. At E16 early bell stage, Runx2 expression becomes downregulated in the dental papilla mesenchyme. By E18, Runx2 expression is downregulated in the dental papilla mesenchyme, whereas the dental follicle region is still intensely positive (D'Souza et al., 1999). Analysis of Runx2 knockout mouse teeth revealed that the mutant molar tooth germs are severely hypoplastic and misshapen. Mutant tooth germs are arrested at the late bud stage without obvious differentiation of odontoblasts and Tissue recombination ameloblasts. experiments demonstrated that the E13 and E14 stage dental epithelium is able to stimulate Runx2 expression in the isolated dental mesenchyme, whilst early stage dental epithelium (E11 and E12) does not have this effect FGF4-soaked beads can mimic the function of dental epithelium inducing Runx2 expression in the dental mesenchyme whereas BMPsoaked beads cannot, which is different from the osteoblasts where BMP can strongly upregulate *Runx2* expression (D'Souza et al., 1999). These data suggest that Runx2 functions in the dental mesenchyme and regulates the expression of mesenchymal signals, which may act reciprocally on the dental epithelium regulating tooth morphogenesis.

In Runx2 heterozygous mice, the teeth appear normal. However, deletion of one allele of *RUNX2* gene in humans (CCD) often causes tooth defects. In CCD patients, the primary dentition is almost normal with slightly delayed eruption, but the eruption of their permanent dentition is severely delayed. Moreover, many patients have multiple supernumerary teeth, which can be clearly detected in the X-ray pictures. Sometimes, the supernumerary teeth even form more or less a third dentition. Clinical studies have shown that these supernumerary teeth are related to the permanent dentition, but not to the primary dentition (Jensen, 1990). The mechanism of the development of supernumerary teeth in humans is still unknown. It has been suggested that these supernumerary teeth may develop from remnants of dental lamina which haven't been dissolved at the expected time. Since the delayed tooth eruption without even occurs in regions supernumerary teeth, and also based on observation the that immature osteoclasts exit in *Runx2* knockout mice at the periphery of the bone region, it has been proposed that insufficient Runx2 activity may affect the differentiation of both osteoblasts and osteoclasts, and thus in CCD patients, the bone remodelling is also disturbed leading to diminished resorption on bone surfaces

and delayed resorption of the primary teeth (Kreiborg et al., 1999).

There have been reports that in the roots of CCD patients' permanent teeth, cellular cementum is absent and acellular cementum is partially hyperplastic (Jensen, 1990; Seow and Hertzberg, 1995; Lukinmaa et al., 1995). However, analysis on the *Runx2* heterozygous mice did not find defects in the molar root regions (Zou et al., 2003). This result, as well as the absence of supernumerary teeth in *Runx2* heterozygous mice, has been explained by the fact that mice have only one dentition and it may just represent the primary dentition in humans (Kreiborg et al., 1999).

During early tooth development, *Runx1* mRNA is detected on the buccal side outer dental epithelium. *Runx3* is expressed very weakly in several thin layers of mesenchymal cells directly underlying dental epithelium. *Runx3* mutant mice do not show any obvious tooth phenotype (Yamashiro et al., 2002).

### Follistatin as a modulator of TGFβ superfamily signaling during development

The transforming growth factor  $\beta$  $(TGF\beta)$  superfamily growth factors contain over 50 structurally related proteins, which play diverse roles during embryogenesis and in the regulation of homeostasis in adult tissues (Table 1). The biological activities of the TGFB superfamily signals have to be tightly controlled. Dysregulation can result in congenital malformation or cancer (Massague and Wotton. 2000). Follistatin is an extracellular modulator

of TGFB superfamily signals, including activin, BMPs, and GDFs. Follistatin initially identified was in the reproductive system and has been shown to play significant roles in the reproductive system regulating the function of pituitary, ovary, and testis (Lin et al., 2003). Recent work has demonstrated that follistatin is also involved in embryonic development (Patel, 1998; Jhaveri et al., 1998; Maeshima et al., 2001; Nakamura et al., 2003).

### 1.5.1. TGFβ superfamily proteins and their modulators in embryogenesis

TGF $\beta$  superfamily proteins can be further divided into several subfamilies. including the TGF $\beta$  family, activin/ inhibin family, and BMP family. They all contain the highly conserved seven cysteine residues in the carboxylterminal domain. After the proteins are secreted and processed, the ligands form hetero-or homodimers by disulfide bonds, and bind to the type II and type I serine/threonine kinase receptors forming an activated receptor complex. Upon ligand binding, the type II receptors phosphorylate the type I receptors, which then relay the signal by phosphorylating binding and the intracellular receptor-regulated Smad transcription factors (R-Smads). R-Smads recruit and associate with the common partner Smad (Co-Smad or Smad4), and subsequently these heteromeric complexes translocate into the nucleus and activate transcription of (Massague, 2000: target genes Balemans, 2002). Activin and TGFB signals are mediated by Smad2 and Smad3, whereas BMP signaling is mediated through Smad1, Smad5, and Smad8.

BMP signals have been shown to have a wide range of biological activities regulating cell growth, proliferation, differentiation. chemotaxis. and apoptosis in various cell types. They are active in many processes during embryogenesis and play important roles in most major organs, such as brain, lung, kidney, and liver. Bmp2 and Bmp4 knockout mice are early embryonic lethal (Winnier et al., 1995; Zhang and Bradley, 1996). Bmp7 knockout mice are perinatal lethal with defects in kidney and skeleton, but have no tooth defects, which may be due to the redundancy with other Bmps coexpressed in the tooth (Luo et al., 1995; Dudley et al., 1995; Karsenty et al., 1996). Bmp2, *Bmp4*, and *Bmp7* are all expressed in the enamel knot region. During early tooth development, Bmp4 expression shifts from dental epithelium to mesenchyme corresponding to the shift of odontogenic potential. Bmp4 can induce Msx1 expression in the dental mesenchyme and upregulate its own expression (Vainio et al., 1993; Åberg et al., 1997). During bud to cap stage transition, it can induce p21 and Msx2 in the dental epithelium and is associated with enamel knot formation (Jernvall et al., 1998).

Activins regulate growth and differentiation in many biological systems, including mesoderm induction, reproductive system, erythropoiesis, neural cell differentiation, and bone remodelling (Thomsen et al., 1990; Woodruff, 1998; Maeshima et al., 2001; Chang et al., 2001; Lin et al., 2003).

There are different forms of activin proteins. Activin A is a homodimer protein containing two BA subunits. There are also activin B ( $\beta$ B- $\beta$ B), activin AB ( $\beta$ A- $\beta$ B), activin  $\beta$ C, activin  $\beta$ D, and activin  $\beta E$ . Activin  $\beta C$  and  $\beta D$ subunits are mainly found in the liver and activin BD exits only in frog Xenopus (Oda et al., 1995; Fang et al., 1996; Schmitt et al., 1996). Activin βA mutant mice develop to term, but die soon after birth with defects in whiskers, hard palate, and teeth (Matzuk et al., 1995a). Activin  $\beta$ A mutant mandibular molars and incisors are arrested at the bud stage, but the maxillary molars develop normally (Ferguson et al., 1998). Exogenous activin A protein can induce follistatin and Edar expression in the dental epithelium, although the induction of Edar requires the presence of other mesenchymal factors and may be indirect (Ferguson et al., 1998; Laurikkala et al., 2001). Activin BB knockout mice have obvious failure of eyelid fusion. Activin  $\beta A/\beta B$  double knockout mice do not have additional defects, suggesting that these two molecules are not redundant in vivo (Matzuk et al., 1995a).

The biological activities of TGFB superfamily signals are delicately controlled at different steps of signal transduction. For example, the BMP signaling is modulated intracellularly by inhibitory Smads (I-Smads) and Smurfs; plasma membrane at the bv pseudoreceptor **BAMBI**: and extracellularly by many binding proteins (Balemans and Van Hul, 2002). The extracellular modulators of BMP signaling include noggin, chordin, chordin-like, DAN/Cerberus protein family, sclerostin, ectodin, follistatin and

Table I.Major defects in knockout mice of TGF <sup>β</sup> family members and their binding proteins				
Molecule	Phenotype of knockout mice	Reference		
Activin βA	Perinatal lethal, cleft palate, lack of whiskers, incisors and lower molars arrest at bud stage	Matzuk et al., 1995a Ferguson et al., 1998		
Activin βB	Viable, failure of eyelid fusion, reproductive abnormality in females	Vassalli et al., 1994		
Activin $\beta A/\beta B$	Combinational defects of activin $\beta A$ and activin $\beta B$ mutants, no additional defects	Matzuk et al, 1995a		
Bmp2	Embryonic lethal (E7.5-10.5), failure of proamniotic	Zhang et al., 1996		
Bmp3	Viable, increased bone density in adults	Daluiski et al., 2001		
Bmp4	Embryonic lethal (E7.5-9.5), defects in mesoderm, allantois and posterior structures	Winnier et al., 1995		
Bmp5	Viable, defects in skeleton and cartilage	Kingsley et al., 1992		
Bmp7	Perinatal lethal, defects in skeletal patterning, eye, and kidney, no tooth phenotype	Dudley et al., 1995 Luo et al., 1995		
Bmp5/Bmp7	Embryonic lethal (E10.5), defects in allantois, heart, branchial arches, somites and forebrain	Solloway and Robertson, 1999		
TGFβ1	Embryonic lethal (E9.5-11.5, >50%), defects in yolk sac and haematopoiesis, survivors have inflammation and autoimmunity, die within one month	Dickson et al., 1995		
TGFβ2	Perinatal lethal, defects in cardiac, skeletal, inner ear, eye, lung, and kidney	Sanford et al., 1997		
TGFβ3	Perinatal lethal, cleft palate and lung defects	Kaartinen et al., 1995		
Chordin	Defects in inner and outer ear, pharynx and heart (strong inhibitor of BMP2, -4, -7, similar to noggin)	Bachiller et al., 2000		
Noggin	Perinatal lethal, opened neural tube, lack of caudal vertebrate and abnormality in limb	McMahon et al., 1998		
Chordin/Noggin	Severe defects in forebrain formation, and defects in specification of three body axes	Bachiller et al., 2000		
Follistatin	Perinatal lethal with taut and shiny skin, defects in skeletal, whisker, hard palate, and tooth (strong activin inhibitor, also binds BMPs and GDFs)	Matzuk et al., 1995b		
DAN	No obvious phenotype (BMP inhibitor)	Dionne et al., 2001		
Cerberus	No obvious phenotype (inhibit BMP, activin, Nodal, and Wnt signals)	Simpson et al., 1999		

follistatin related proteins (Balemans and Van Hul, 2002; Laurikkala et al., 2003). Noggin is a high-affinity BMP binding protein that prevents BMP signal to bind to its receptors. Noggin knockout mice exhibit numerous defects including absence of caudal skeleton, opened neural tube, and malformed limbs (McMahon. 1998; Brunet. 1998). Mutations of noggin in humans affect joint morphogenesis and have been related genetically to multiple synostoses syndrome and autosomal dominant stapes ankylosis (Gong et al., 1999; Brown et al., 2002).

Follistatin is a secreted glycoprotein. It was originally isolated from ovarian fluid and characterized by its ability to inhibit follicle stimulation hormone (FSH) secretion from the pituitary gland (Yan et al., 2002; Ueno et al., 1987). Further studies in reproductive system linked follistatin directly with activin and showed that follistatin neutralizes the FSH stimulatory activity by activin protein (Nakamura et al., 1990). In vitro studies have demonstrated that follistatin binds activin with high affinity and prevents the binding of activin to its receptors (de Winter et al., 1996). The binding of follistatin triggers clearance of activins by endocytotic degradation (Hashimoto et al., 1997). Follistatin gained the interest from developmental biologists after the study by Hemmati-Brivanlou and coworkers showing that it was expressed in the Spemann Organiser in early Xenopus embryo and acts as a neural and dorsal inducer (Hemmati-Brivanlou et al., 1994). Since then, many studies on follistatin have demonstrated that this protein is broadly distributed in adult tissues, including brain, bone marrow, endochondral bone, pancreas, and liver, and also plays important roles during embryogenesis (Patel, 1998; Lin et al., 2003).

## 1.5.2. Structure and biological function of follistatin

Follistatin is highly conserved among vertebrate species. It has various isoforms that are actually encoded by one single gene. Follistatin gene contains six exons and the first exon encodes a putative signal peptide. Alternative mRNA splicing between exon 5 and exon 6 produce two protein forms, follistatin-315. follistatin-288 and Subsequent glycosylation and proteolytic cleavage modifications generate proteins with a variety of molecular masses (31-39 kDa) (Ueno et al., 1987; Shimasaki et al., 1988; Lin et al., 2003). The majority of follistatins isolated from pig ovary is follistatin-303, which may be derived from proteolytic cleavage of follistatin-315 (Sugino et al., 1993). Follistatin-288 binds with high affinity to cell surface heparin sulfate whereas follistatin-315 binds with low affinity. The ability to bind to the extracellular matrix may be an important property that allows follistatin to act as a local modulator of TGFB superfamily proteins (Lin et al., 2003).

Genetic and molecular evidence has demonstrated that follistatin prevents activin signaling in various biological systems. During hair follicle morphogenesis, follistatin is expressed in the hair follicle epithelium whereas activin  $\beta A$  is mainly in the mesenchyme. Both follistatin knockout mice and activin  $\beta A$  overexpression transgenic mice exhibit a retardation of hair follicle development. In addition, follistatin protein stimulates hair follicle development *in vitro*. It appears that follistatin accelerates hair follicle morphogenesis by antagonizing the activity of activin.

This activin-follistatin system also regulates the cycling of hair follicle at a later stage in adult mice with activin promoting antigen development whilst antagonises follistatin this effect (Nakamura et al., 2003). The activinfollistatin system is also involved in epithelial branching morphogenesis during mammalian organogenesis. In the pancreas, kidney, developing and salivary gland rudiments, exogenous activin severely disrupts the branching of the epithelium, whereas follistatin counteracts the effect of activin (Ritvos et al., 1995; Maeshima et al., 2001). In addition, activin and follistatin are both expressed in the migrating endothelial cells and may be involved in the regulation of angiogenesis (Kozian et al., 1997). In the developing pancreas, follistatin can mimic the effects of developing pancreatic mesenchyme for the induction of exocrine tissues and repression of endocrine tissues (Miralles et al., 1998).

Although follistatin has been shown to be a neural inducer in the early Xenopus embryos, follistatin knockout mice do not have any neural or mesoderm defects during early embryogenesis. Follistatin knockout mice develop to term but fail to breathe, and so die shortly after birth. The mutant mice have taut and shiny skin and exhibit generalized growth retardation and defects in respiratory muscle, whisker, as well as skeletal abnormalities including hard palate. The mandibular regions surrounding the lower molars are less prominent in the mutants (Matzuk et al., 1995b). The defects in follistatin mutant mice are more widespread than those seen in activin deficient mice, indicating that follistatin may also modulate the actions of other members of the TGFB superfamily during embryogenesis. Indeed, recent work has shown that besides activin, follistatin is also able to bind certain other members of the TGFB superfamily, including BMP2, BMP4, BMP15/GDF-9B, BMP7. GDF8/ myostatin, GDF9, and GDF11/BMP11, but not TGFβ1 (Yamashita et al., 1995; Iemura et al., 1998; Otsuka et al., 2001; Gamer et al., 2001). In early Xenopus embryos and mouse teratocarcinoma cells, follistatin interacts directly with BMP2 and BMP4 proteins (Fainsod et al., 1997; Iemura et al., 1998). Follistatin has also been shown to antagonize BMPmediated lateral inhibition and stimulate feather bud formation in the chick (Patel et al., 1999). However, the binding of follistatin to BMPs is much weaker than to activin and the binding between follistatin and BMPs may be reversible. During the development of the chick limb, follistatin promotes the activity of BMP7 for induction of muscle growth, but meanwhile inhibits the apoptotic activity of BMP7. Follistatin may store and present BMPs in a subapoptotic concentration which promotes continuous muscle growth and thus released BMPs could regain biological activity (Amthor et al., 2002). It appears that follistatin can act either as antagonist or anagonist of BMP depending on the tissue.

Unlike other BMP inhibitors such as noggin and chordin, follistatin does not limit the availability of BMP to its
receptors. Instead, they form a trimeric complex with BMP and its receptors and cause conformational changes of BMP proteins thus preventing the receptor activation (Fig. 4). The affinity of follistatin binding to BMPs is also much weaker (24-fold weaker) compared to Chordin and Noggin (Iemura et al., 1998; Balemans and Van Hul, 2002).

### **1.5.3. Regulation of follistatin activity**

The expression of follistatin is regulated by various factors, including its ligands activin and GDF11 (Ferguson et al., 1998; Gamer et al., 2001). During early tooth development, activin  $\beta A$  from the dental mesenchyme is able to induce follistatin expression in the dental epithelium (Ferguson et al., 1998). Exogenous FGF4 and BMP7 proteins have also been shown to induce follistatin expression during chick feather bud development (Patel et al., 1999). In addition, epidermal growth factor and TGF $\beta$ 1 can induce follistatin expression in keratinocytes *in vitro* (Wankell et al., 2001). Follistatin promoter region contains several DNA binding motifs for a number of



Fig. 4. Schematic presentation of the modulation of BMP and activin signaling by follistatin and noggin.

transcription factors, such as Sp1, Ap-1, Ap-2, Brachyury-T, CRE binding protein, and TCF (de Groot et al., 2000). Microarray analysis on Wnt protein stimulated human embryonic carcinoma cells demonstrates that follistatin may be a putative downstream target gene of Wnt signaling and the TGF binding site in the follistatin promoter region is required for the induction of follistatin (Willert et al., 2002).

There exits several proteins which share homology with follistatin, such as follistatin-related gene (FLRG), agrin, testican, SPARC, and Flik. They all have one or more follistatin domains. Only FLRG was shown to bind activin or related TGF $\beta$  family members, but the others cannot (Shibanuma et al., 1993; Zwijsen et al., 1994; Hayette et al., 1998; de Groot et al., 2000). FLRP binds to activin and BMP with similar affinity and sensitivity as that of follistatin, but the expression patterns and biological functions of these two genes are different (Tortoriello et al., 2001; Wankell et al., 2001; Shibanuma et al., 1993). Whether they are functionally redundant or fulfil unique biological roles is still unknown.

It has been suggested that members of the TGF $\beta$  superfamily may interact with each other *in vivo*. Different TGF $\beta$ family proteins can bind to the same receptor, for example both activin and BMP7 can bind to the ActRII and ActRIIB receptors, therefore they may compete at the cell membrane level for the common receptors (Balemans and Van Hul, 2002; Fig. 5). In addition, there is only a limited amount of Co-Smad (Smad4) in the cell and thus these proteins may also compete for Smad4 in mediating their signals (Candia et al., 1997; Lin et al., 2003). To date, all the



Fig. 5. TGF $\beta$  superfamily proteins can bind to the same receptors or use the same Smad proteins.

functions of follistatin are exclusively related to its binding and neutralizing members of the various TGFB superfamily. There is no evidence for the existence of a specific follistatin receptor (Patel, 1998; Balemans and Van Hul, 2002). This, as well as the possible interactions between different TGFB superfamily signals, leads us to speculate that the developmental defects in the follistatin mutant mice may be due to (1)increased activin signaling (follistatin binds and inhibits activins); (2) increased activin and BMP signaling (follistatin binds and inhibits both activin and BMPs); (3) increased activin signaling and reduced BMP signaling (activins compete with BMPs for activin receptors and Smad4); (4) reduced activin and increased BMP signaling (BMPs compete with activins for receptors and Smad4); (5) altered TGFB signaling (both activin and BMPs compete with TGF $\beta$  for Smad4). The exact mechanism in vivo may depend on the specific developmental system and the final outcome of these interactions will determine the cell fate

## **1.5.4.** Follistatin in tooth development

Follistatin is expressed in the dental epithelium of the developing rat embryo between E16 and E20 stage (Roberts and Barth, 1994). During mouse embryogenesis, follistatin was reported to be expressed in the dental epithelium and can be induced by mesenchymally expressed activin  $\beta A$  signal (Ferguson et al., 1998). Studies by Heikinheimo and coworkers have demonstrated that follistatin transcripts are located in the mouse dental epithelium during bud stage. At later stages (E17 and E18), follistatin transcripts were restricted to the epithelial pre-ameloblasts, adjecent the dental mesenchymal cells to expressing activin  $\beta A$  at the tips of the forming cusps (Heikinheimo et al., 1997). The unique expression pattern of follistatin in the developing tooth and its close relationship with activin  $\beta A$ suggested that these molecules may function together during tooth development, especially for cusp formation and odontoblast differentiation (Heikinheimo et al., 1997, 1998). In vitro studies have shown that exogenously follistatin added recombinant protein trigger can odontoblast differentiation in isolated dental papilla mesenchyme, and this effect was enhanced by adding follistatin together with heparin. However, Activin A protein did not show any effect on odontoblast differentiation in vitro (Heikinheimo et al., 1997).

Follistatin knockout mice die at birth and exhibit abnormal tooth development. It has been reported that in 6/34 null mutants the lower incisors were absent, and in 23/34 mutants the development of incisors was delayed (Matzuk et al., 1995b). The precise role of follistatin in the developing tooth *in vivo* remains to be analyzed.

# 2. AIMS OF THE STUDY

The aim of this study was to investigate the molecular mechanisms underlying tooth morphogenesis and cell differentiation. The specific aims were:

- 1. To examine in detail the tooth phenotype of Runx2 mutant mice;
- 2. To identify the upstream regulators and the downstream targets of Runx2 in the developing mouse tooth;
- 3. To study the role of follistatin during tooth development by using follistatin knockout mice and transgenic mice over-expressing follistatin under keratin 14 promoter.

# **3.** MATERIALS AND METHODS

## 3.1. Mouse strains

Strain	Used in article	Purpose
NMRI or C57BL/6 mice	I, II, III, IV	Analyze the expression pattern of mRNA and protein
Runx2 knockout mice	I, II	Analyze the role of Runx2 during tooth development
Follistatin knockout mice	III, IV	Analyze the tooth phenotype of follistatin mutant mice
K14-follistatin mice	III, IV	Analyze the tooth phenotype of over- expression of follistatin under the keratin 14 promoter
<i>Msx1</i> knockout mice	II	Determine the upstream regulator of Runx2 in tooth development
Lef1 knockout mice	II	Determine the upstream regulator of Runx2 in tooth development
Tabby knockout mice	II	Determine the upstream regulator of Runx2 in tooth development

## 3.2. Probes

Probe	Description or reference	Used in
Activin βA	Erämaa et al., 1992	II, III, IV
Ameloblastin	Lee et al., 1996	I, IV
Bmp2	Åberg et al., 1997	II, III, IV
Bmp4	Åberg et al., 1997	II, III, IV
Bmp7	Åberg et al., 1997	II, III, IV
Proα1(I) collagen	Metsaranta et al., 1991	Ι
Dan	Dionne et al., 2001	II
Dentin sialophosphoprotein	D'Souza et al., 1997	I, IV
Dentin matrix protein 1	D'Souza et al., 1997	Ι
Eda	Laurikkala et al., 2001	II
Edar	Laurikkala et al., 2001	II, III
Fgf3	Kettunen et al., 2000	II
Fgf4	Jernvall et al., 1994	II, III
Fgf10	Kettunen et al., 2000	II
FgfR1	Trokovic et al., 2003	II
Follistatin	full length, Wankell et al., 2001	III, IV
GDF11	Gift from Anne Calof (Univ. California, Irvine)	III
Lunatic fringe	Mustonen et al., 2002	II
Hes1 and Hes5	Mustonen et al., 2002	II
Lefl	Travis et al., 1991	II
MMP2	Sahlberg et al., 1999	II
MMP20	Gift from Dr. Jan Hu (Univ. of Texas School of	IV
	Dentistry)	
Msx1 and Msx2	Jowett et al., 1993	II
Osteocalcin	Ducy et al., 1997	Ι
p21	Jernvall et al., 1998	II, III, IV
Pax9	Neubuser et al., 1997	II
Runx2	D'Souza et al., 1999	II
Runx1 and Runx3	Yamashiro et al., 2002	II
Sprouty1, Sprouty2, Sprouty4	Zhang et al., 2001	II
TGFβ1	Vaahtokari et al., 1991	II
Timp2 and Timp3	Sahlberg et al., 1999	II
Twist	Rice et al., 2000	II
Wnt 5a, 10a, 10b, and 11a	Dassule et al., 1998 ; Sarkar et al., 1999	II
Shh	Vaahtokari et al., 1996	II, III
Ectodin	Laurikkala et al., 2003	II
Hairless	Derived from mouse EST AI181388 by	II
	subcloning a SmaI-BamH1 fragment into	
	EcRV-BamH1 cleaved PCRII-TOPO	

The following probes were used for *in situ* hybridisation:

## 3.3. Methods used and described in articles I-IV

Method	Article
Histology	I, II, III, IV
Skeletal preparation of adult tissues	III, IV
Tissue culture and bead implantation	I, II, III, IV
Genotyping by PCR	I, II, III, IV
Radioactive <i>in situ</i> hybridisation on sections	I, II, III, IV
Whole mount in situ hybridization	II, III, IV
Immunohistochemistry	II, III, IV
Cell proliferation assays (BrdU staining)	III
RT-PCR	Ι
Kidney transplantation	II
Cell transfection and analysis of gene induction	II

## 4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

# 4.1. Phenotypic changes in *Runx2* mutant mouse dentition (I)

Runx2 is a runt domain transcription factor that plays critical roles in bone development and tooth morphogenesis (Otto et al., 1997; Karsenty and Wagner, 2002; D'Souza et al., 1999). Earlier studies by Åberg in our laboratory have shown that Runx2 is expressed in the dental mesenchyme and regulated by FGF signals from dental epithelium, and that in Runx2 mutant mice tooth development is arrested at late bud stage (D'Souza et al., 1999). Our first aim was to study in detail the tooth phenotype of Runx2 mutant mice. We performed histological analysis of Runx2 mutant teeth at different developmental stages starting from E12 to E18. Runx2 mutant molars had reached the bud stage with condensed mesenchymal cells underlying dental epithelium. However, at E14, when the wild type molar germs underwent folding morphogenesis and formed a cap shape structure, Runx2 mutant molars were still arrested at the late bud without stage anv morphologically visible enamel knot formation at the tip of the tooth bud. In the absence of Runx2 activity, the lower molars seemed to be affected more severely than the upper molars. Moreover, we observed epithelial budding on the lingual aspect of the mutant upper molar germs, indicating that Runx2 normally prevents lingual epithelial bud formation in the wild type mice. Mice exhibit only one dentition, which has been suggested to represent the primary dentition in humans

(Kreiborg et al., 1999). Also based on the fact that CCD patients often possess supernumerary teeth, we propose that this lingual epithelial bud in Runx2 mutant molars may represent the growth of dental lamina for successor dentition formation. It appears that Runx2 is required for tooth morphogenesis, but inhibits extra epithelial bud protrusion and successor dentition formation. These apparently contradictory effects at different developmental windows are not unusual and have also heen demonstrated in other systems. For example, activin inhibits hair follicle development, but on the other hand promotes anlagen development and prevents catagen transition during hair follicle cycling (Nakamura et al., 2003). Further studies need to be performed to determine the nature of the lingual dental epithelial bud.

Runx2 is a transcription factor specifically expressed in the dental mesenchyme (D'Souza et al., 1999). To assess the defective tissue in Runx2 mutant molars, we performed tissue recombination experiments between Runx2 mutant and wild type molars. Since Runx2 mutant tooth germs are rather small, we combined E14 stage Runx2 mutant molar tissues with E13 wild type molars. When Runx2 mutant dental epithelium was recombined with wild type dental mesenchyme and cultured in vitro for 6-8 days, the explants could develop into bell stage morphology. However, when the Runx2 mesenchyme mutant dental was recombined with wild type dental epithelium, no obvious development occurred. These results indicate that the primary defective tissue in the *Runx2* mutant teeth resides in the dental mesenchyme. This is in line with the expression pattern of *Runx2* in the dental mesenchyme, suggesting that Runx2 regulates the expression of genes in the dental mesenchyme, which then reciprocally act on the dental epithelium for the tooth bud to cap stage transition.

Since *Runx2* mutant mice die at birth. it is unclear whether the development of mutant tooth bud is markedly delayed or is a true arrest at the late bud stage. Therefore, we transplanted the E13 and E14 Runx2 mutant tooth germs under the kidney capsule of nude mice, together with some wild type molars as positive controls. After 2 weeks in vivo culture. the mutant tooth explants degraded and only formed some cyst-like structure, whereas wild type molars had developed into bell stage with dentin matrix secretion. Hence, the tooth arrest in Runx2 mutant mice cannot be rescued by long time culture in vivo.

# 4.2. The role of Runx2 during tooth development (II)

To clarify the role of Runx2 during tooth morphogenesis, we searched for the downstream target genes of Runx2 by extensive *in situ* hybridisation analysis. Since *Runx2* mutant mouse molars arrest at the bud to cap transitional stage, we analyzed and compared the expression of suspected genes between E14 *Runx2* mutant molars and both E13 and E14 wild type molars. For most genes involved in mesenchymal condensation, such as *Msx1*, *Bmp4*, *Pax9*, *Lef1*, and tenacin, the expression patterns were

similar in Runx2 mutant teeth to that of wild types. Only activin  $\beta A$  expression was reduced in the mutant dental mesenchyme. This was consistent with the morphological observation that condensation of dental mesenchyme around the tooth bud is not affected in Runx2 mutants. However, in the ablation of Runx2 activity, Fgf3 expression was completely downregulated in the dental mesenchyme of lower molars, and only few signals were detected in the mutant upper molars. Our *in vitro* bead experiments demonstrated that exogenous FGF4 beads could induce Fgf3 expression in isolated E13 and E14 stage wild type dental mesenchyme, but failed to induce Fgf3 expression in Runx2 mutant dental mesenchyme. Meanwhile, FGF4-soaked beads were still able to induce *activin*  $\beta A$  and  $TGF\beta l$  expression in the mutant dental mesenchyme indicating that the failure of Fgf3 induction by FGF protein is not due to the defects in FGF receptors or mediators. Further studies using Runx2 -/- calvarial cells demonstrated that Fgf3 was also absent in Runx2 -/- calvarial cells and overexpression of Runx2 in these cells could rescue *Fgf3* expression. These results indicate that Runx2 acts in the dental mesenchyme and mediates FGF signals for the induction of Fgf3. Furthermore, by database searching, we found two putative Runx2 binding sites in the Fgf3 gene promoter region. Based on these results, we propose that Fgf3 may be a direct downstream target gene of Runx2 in the dental mesenchyme.

Previous work has shown that Fgf3 is also downregulated in Msx1 mutant molars and its induction by FGFs requires Msx1 (Bei and Maas, 1998). Therefore, we analyzed the relationship between *Msx1* and *Runx2* genes during tooth development. We found that *Msx1* was expressed normally in *Runx2* mutant molars, whereas *Runx2* expression was down-regulated in *Msx1* mutant dental mesenchymal cells, although *Runx2* signals remained normal in the osteogenic regions. Therefore, we proposed that Runx2 functions between Msx1 and Fgf3 and mediates epithelial FGF signals to the dental mesenchyme.

mice. In Lefl mutant tooth development is also arrested at the bud stage. Earlier tissue recombination experiments have demonstrated that Lef1 is only transiently required in the dental epithelium for the bud to cap stage and Fgf4 transition is a direct downstream target gene of Lef1 in the dental epithelium. The tooth phenotype



in *Lef1* mutant mice can be rescued by both epithelial and mesenchymal FGFs (Kratochwil et al., 1996. 2002) However, both Msx1 and Runx2 are expressed normally in Lefl mutant molars (Kratochwil et al., 1996 and our present data). It has been shown that epithelial BMP4 could induce Msx1 expression in the dental mesenchyme. However, BMP4 is not able to induce *Runx2* expression, suggesting that besides FGFs, Runx2 may be regulated by some other epithelial signals (Bei and Maas, 1998; D'Souza et al., 1999). Since Fgf3 is also downregulated in Lef1 mutant teeth, we propose that FGF4 signals from the enamel knot region may also use some other signaling pathway which convergent with Runx2 for the induction of Fgf3 (Fig. 6).

> Fig. 6. Schematic representation of signaling pathways involving Runx2 during bud to cap stage transition in tooth development. Lef1 is required for the expression of Fgf in the enamel knot. Epithelial FGF signals induce Runx2 expression in the dental mesenchyme through Msx1. Runx2 regulates mesenchymal Fgf3 expression, which together with some other downstream targets of Runx2 induce Shh expression in the epithelial enamel knot. FGF may also use other signaling pathways which converge with Runx2 pathway for the induction of Fgf3 in the dental mesenhcyme. Runx2 also affects activin expression, which reciprocally acts on the dental epithelium and stimulates Edar expression in the enamel knot.

Although the primary enamel knot is morphologically discernible at the cap stage, its induction occurs already at the bud stage. The formation of enamel knot is induced by signals from the dental mesenchyme. In Msx1, Pax9, and Lef1 mutant mice, tooth development is arrested at the bud stage and the enamel knot does not form. However, the tooth phenotype of *Msx1* mice can be rescued by exogenous BMP4 proteins and Lef1 mutants by FGF4 proteins. They all rescued the formation of the enamel knot so that the tooth development can proceed further (Bei et al., 2000; Kratochwil et al., 2002). Since Runx2 mutant tooth development was also arrested at the late bud stage, we analyzed the enamel knot marker genes to see whether there were defects in enamel knot formation. We found that Wnt10b, Lef1, and Msx2 were all localized at the tip of Runx2 mutant tooth buds corresponding to the enamel knot region. However, Edar, p21, Fgf4, and *Bmp2* were expressed normally in the mutant upper molars, but downregulated in the mutant lower molars. It appears that the enamel knot has started to form in Runx2 mutant molars, but the formation is disturbed by the absence of Runx2 activity. The formation of enamel knot is disturbed more severely in the mutant lower molars than in the upper molars, which may be related to the morphological differences observed between mutant lower and upper molars.

Interestingly, we found that *Runx3*, which is another Runt domain protein, was dramatically upregulated in the *Runx2* mutant upper molars with a similar pattern with that of *Runx2*. In wild type mice, *Runx3* is only expressed

weakly in several cell layers in the dental mesenchyme. The expression of the other mammalian Runx gene. Runx1. was not affected in *Runx2* mutant teeth. It has been shown that both Runx2 and Runx3 exhibit binding sites in their own promoter region and may autoregulate their own expressions. This has been suggested to explain the sudden upregulation of Runx2 gene during development (Drissi et al., 2000; Bangsow et al., 2001). Our results indicate that Runx2 normally suppresses Runx3 expression in the upper molars, and that upregulation of Runx3 in Runx2 mutant upper molars may compensate for some of the action of Runx2 there. This may account for the differences observed between mutant upper and lower molars.

It has been shown that exogenous FGF10 protein could rescue *Shh* expression in the dental epithelium of *Lef1* mutant molars (Kratochwil et al., 2002). We also tried to rescue the expression of *Shh* by adding FGF10-releasing beads on the E13 stage *Runx2* mutant molars. However, FGF10-releasing beads failed to rescue *Shh* expression, indicating that Runx2 may also regulate some other reciprocal signals from dental mesenchyme to the epithelium inducing *Shh* expression.

Our results indicate that Runx2 is involved in several signaling pathways during tooth morphogenesis. Therefore, we tried to rescue the mutant tooth phenotype by growth factors including FGF4, FGF10, SHH, and activin A. These growth factors were added either alone or in different combinations. However, none of them rescued the morphogenesis of *Runx2* mutant molars.

In conclusion, we demonstrated that Runx2 is an important transcription factor mediating epithelial FGF signals to the dental mesenchyme and regulating reciprocal mesenchymal signals during tooth bud to cap stage transition. We also showed that Runx2 acts downstream of Msx1 and directly regulates Fgf3 expression in the dental mesenchyme. Runx2 may be involved in several different signaling pathways and the complex signaling networks determine temporal schedule the of tooth morphogenesis.

## 4.3. Antagonistic interactions between follistatin and activin/ BMP signals determine the shape of mouse molar teeth (III)

To further investigate the role of follistatin during tooth development, we analyzed the tooth phenotypes in two lines of mutant mice, follistatin knockout mice and the transgenic mouse line (K14-follistatin). Follistatin mutant mice die shortly after birth, whereas most of the K14-follistatin transgenic mice can live to adult.

We first performed comparative analysis on the expression patterns of follistatin and its ligands, activin  $\beta A$ , Bmp2, Bmp4, and Bmp7 in the normal mouse molars from E14 cap stage to the new born stage (NB). During cap and bell stages, the inner dental epithelium undergoes morphogenesis folding enveloping the underlying dental papilla mesenchyme and outlining the shape of the tooth crown. At E14 stage, follistatin was expressed in the primary enamel knot in the dental epithelium with some transcripts in the dental mesenchyme.

Activin  $\beta$ A mRNA was localised in the dental mesenchyme with intense signals directly underlying dental epithelium. *Bmp2*, *Bmp4*, and *Bmp7* were all expressed in the primary enamel knot, and *Bmp4* was also expressed intensely in the dental mesenchyme.

By the E16 early bell stage, follistatin was expressed in the inner dental epithelium including secondary enamel knots, as well as in the dental follicle and the dental papilla mesenchymal cells near the cervical loop regions. Activin βA mRNA became restricted to the mesenchymal cells at the tips of the future cusps. Bmp2, Bmp4, and Bmp7 were all expressed in the secondary enamel knots, and Bmp4 was also detected in the mesenchymal cells near the cusp regions. At newborn stage, when the shape of the tooth crown has almost been determined. follistatin and activin  $\beta A$  were downregulated in the dental epithelium. Follistatin mRNA was restricted to the dental papilla mesenchymal cells near the cervical loop regions and activin BA was only expressed in the dental follicle. Bmp2, Bmp4, and Bmp7 transcripts were all detected in the pre-odontoblasts and weakly in the preameloblasts. The unique expression patterns of these molecules during advancing tooth morphogenesis suggest that they may be involved in the regulation of cusp formation of the tooth These results. were consistent with previous studies (Åberg et al., 1997; Heikinheimo et al., 1998).

We first analyzed the molar tooth phenotypes of K14-follistatin mice. We found that when follistatin was overexpressed in the dental epithelium, the crowns of the molars were mostly abnormal (two-month-old mouse skeletal preparation). In some severe cases, the occlusal surface of the tooth appeared whorled with no clear cusp formation and their enamel was prematurely worn. In addition, all the third molars in both upper and lower jaws were absent and this occurred in all the transgenic mice analyzed.

To determine the role of follistatin in vivo, we also examined the tooth phenotype in follistatin knockout mice. Follistatin mutant mice survive to term but die soon after birth due to the defects in respiratory muscles (Matzuk et al., 1995b). At E14 cap stage, the mutant molars are morphologically similar to the wild types. However, by the E16 early bell stage, the abnormalities in follistatin mutant molars started to be progressively more obvious. Compared to the clear, deep, and regular cusp patterns in wild type molars, follistatin mutant cusps were shallow and irregular. Their inner dental epithelium folded aberrantly and lacked antero-posterior polarization seen in the wild types. In freshly dissected E18 molar germs, the aberrant tooth morphology can be clearly visualized. Since follistatin mutant mice die at birth, we cultured E17 mutant molar germs in vitro to culturing for 7 days follistatin mutant molar germs generated multiple shallow and aberrant foldings. However, the differentiation of odontoblasts and ameloblasts was not affected, suggesting that follistatin only affects the morphogenesis of the molars but does not inhibit cell differentiation.

We further investigated the molecular mechanisms underlying follistatin mutant molar phenotype. It has been suggested that enamel knots play critical roles in tooth morphogenesis. We analyzed the expression of some enamel knot marker genes, including Fgf4, Shh, and *Edar* in E14 mutant molars and in wild type mice. It appeared that in the follistatin mutant molars, the primary enamel knot had formed, as indicated by the seemingly normal expression of Fgf4. Shh. and Edar. However, the secondary enamel knots were obviously abnormal. In E16 wild type mouse molars, p21, a cyclin dependent kinase inhibitor, was localised in three regions of the inner dental epithelium corresponding to the secondary enamel knots. In contrast, in follistatin mutant molars, p21 was only detected in two regions of the inner dental epithelium, and one of them was significantly larger than in the wild type. Cell proliferation analysis by BrdU incorporation revealed that the proliferating cells in the mutant inner dental epithelium were reduced and irregular without any anteroposterior polarity as in the wild types. primary enamel knot Since the determines the tooth crown base and the subsequent formation of secondary enamel knots (Jernvall and Thesleff, 2000), we proposed that in the ablation of follistatin activity, although the primary enamel knot had formed, its signaling function was disturbed resulting in the abnormal number and size of secondary enamel knots.

It has been reported that BMP4 from the dental mesenchyme can induce p21 expression in the primary enamel knot (Jernvall et al., 1998). We found that exogenous activin A-soaked beads could also induce p21 expression in the isolated dental epithelium, even though the induced signals were much weaker compared to that of BMP4 protein.

Signals from the enamel knot, such as FGF and SHH, have been shown to regulate the growth and folding of adjacent cervical loop epithelium (Dassule et al., 2000; Jernvall and Thesleff, 2000). FGF signals from the dental mesenchyme are also able to stimulate cell proliferation in the cervical loops (Kettunen and Thesleff, 1998). Given the fact that BMPs can induce p21 expression in the dental epithelium to stop cell proliferation, it has been proposed that the antagonistic interactions and balance between activators (FGFs and SHH) and inhibitors (BMPs) regulate the position of secondary enamel knots and the growth of cervical loops (Jernvall and Thesleff, 2000; Salazar-Ciudad et al., 2002). Since follistatin can modulate the activity of activin/BMP signals and their expression patterns correlate well with their functions, we propose that follistatin may function by fine-tuning the balance between the activators and inhibitors of tooth morphogenesis and thus is important for normal tooth shape formation. Since both over-expression and ablation of follistatin activity affected tooth morphology, the amount of follistatin signal seems to be critical for tooth morphogenesis. The absence of third molars by over-expression of follistatin may be explained by the defects in the formation of molar field during the early stages of tooth development.

Another interesting feature observed in follistatin mutant molars was that most cells in the stellate reticulum were closely packed with round nuclei, which was in contrast with the star-shaped and sparsely distributed cells in the wild type mice. Since the stellate reticulum becomes highly vascularised during advancing tooth morphogenesis, and also follistatin and activin have been suggested to be involved in angiogenesis (Kozian et al., 1997), we visualized the blood vessels in follistatin mutant molars by using laminin antibodies to see whether there were links between angiogenesis and the abnormal tissue in the mutant molars. Our results showed that both wild type and follistatin mutant mouse molars contain blood vessels in the stellate reticulum, indicating that neither the reduction of extracellular matrix nor the low cell proliferation rate in the mutant molars was due to the failure of angiogenesis.

It has been demonstrated that during early tooth development, activin  $\beta A$ from the dental mesenchyme induces follistatin expression in the overlying dental epithelium (Ferguson et al., 1998). Based on this and our data, we propose that activin  $\beta A$ , which is expressed in the dental mesenchyme under the primary and secondary enamel knots, induces follistatin expression in the dental epithelium. Follistatin functions by finely tuning the activity of activin/ BMPs signals and thus the balance between activators and inhibitors of tooth growth. The final outcome of these interactions determines the formation and function of the enamel knots and regulates the cusp patterning of the teeth. It is thus reasonable to hypothesize that variations in follistatin expression may have influenced the evolutionary divergence of mammalian teeth.

### 4.4. Follistatin spatially and temporally regulates ameloblast differentiation (IV)

In contrast to the multi-cuspid molars, incisors are mono-cuspid teeth. We further investigated the role of follistatin in the mouse incisors. We analyzed the incisor phenotype of K14-follistatin mice. In one-month-old wild type mice, incisors had fully erupted and exhibited vellow-brown color. Ground sections showed a thick layer of enamel exclusively on the labial surface of the incisors, whilst the lingual surface was enamel-free and covered only by dentin. This lingual surface of mouse incisors has been suggested to be the rootanalogous surface (Amar et al., 1986, 1989). The incisors of heterozygous transgenic mice appeared grossly normal. However, in the homozygous transgenic mice, which express high levels of follistatin gene, incisors were chalky white and ground sections showed that the enamel layer was totally absent. Therefore, in this study, we focused on the analysis of homozygous transgenic mice.

To further understand the enamel defects in K14-follistatin mouse incisors, we examined the incisor phenotypes in new born mice. At the new born stage, wild type mouse incisors exhibited obvious asymmetry with columnar and polarized functional ameloblasts located only on the labial surface, whereas the lingual surface dental epithelial cells were small and flattened. Odontoblasts in the dental mesenchyme were similar on both labial and lingual sides. However, the K14-follistatin mouse incisor had lost the asymmetrical character with similar appearance of the labial and lingual surfaces. There were no obvious polarized ameloblasts on the labial surface, which correlates with the phenotype seen in the adult mice. Hence, over-expression of follistatin in the dental epithelium had inhibited ameloblast differentiation.

We further analyzed the incisor phenotypes in follistatin knockout mice. To our surprise, we found a layer of polarized ameloblasts on the lingual surface of mutant incisors. This was an unanticipated finding since classical tissue recombination experiments had suggested that the lingual side dental epithelium of mouse incisors has lost the competence to respond to epigenetic inducing signals, although the lingual side dental mesenchyme is still able to stimulate ameloblast differentiation when recombined with labial epithelium or the molar inner dental epithelium (Amar et al., 1986, 1989). Our results that the lingual dental indicate epithelium still possesses the competence differentiate to into ameloblasts in the absence of follistatin. Hence, follistatin is essential for the enamel-free area formation in mouse incisors

We confirmed the identity of the dental epithelial cells in K14-follistatin and follistatin knockout mouse incisors by in situ hybridisation and immunohistochemistry using some molecular marker genes, including p21, amelogenin, ameloblastin, DSPP, and MMP20. p21 associates with the stop of cell cycle and thus is an early marker of differentiating cells. Amelogenin and ameloblastin are secreted by functional ameloblasts. DSPP is expressed in newly differentiated ameloblasts and downregulated in secretory stage ameloblasts

(Zeichner-David et al., 1995). MMP20 is a proteolytic enzyme required for enamel matrix degeneration during enamel maturation (Caterina et al., 2002). In K14-follistatin mouse incisors, all these genes were down-regulated on the labial side dental epithelium. In sharp contrast, all these genes were up-regulated on the lingual surface of follistatin knockout mouse incisors. These results confirmed that ameloblast differentiation was prevented by over-expression of follistatin in the dental epithelium and in the ablation of follistatin activity. functional ameloblasts differentiated on the lingual surface of mouse incisors. The differentiation of odontoblasts was not affected in these two mouse lines

Since the function of follistatin has been exclusively related to binding and neutralizing the activity of members of TGFβ superfamily, the effect of follistatin on the differentiation of ameloblasts should directly link to the TGFβ superfamily signals. Earlier experiments have demonstrated that terminal differentiation of ameloblasts is triggered by functional odontoblasts or predentin-dentin matrix (Coin et al., 1999a). To investigate the inducers of ameloblast differentiation, we compared the expression patterns of follistatin with its ligands, activin, Bmp2, Bmp4, and Bmp7 during mouse incisor development. At E16, follistatin transcripts were located in the dental epithelium on both labial and lingual sides. Some differentiating ameloblasts on the labial side were devoid of follistatin signals. By E18, follistatin was down-regulated in most part of the labial dental epithelium, whereas the lingual dental epithelium continued to express follistatin transcripts.

Interestingly, in the molars of postnatal 4 days mice, there were also intense follistatin signals located in the dental epithelium lining the enamel-free areas. The unique expression patterns of follistatin in the mouse teeth correlates with its function as an inhibitor of ameloblast differentiation.

From E16 to new born stage, activin βA was mainly expressed in the dental follicle surrounding the tooth germs. Bmp2, Bmp4, and Bmp7 were expressed in the dental papilla mesenchyme and later in the odontoblasts. However, only Bmp4 was expressed in both labial and lingual dental mesenchyme under the epithelium. At new born stage, intense *Bmp4* and moderate *Bmp7* expression were also seen in the secretory ameloblasts on the labial surface. It has been shown that the lingual side dental mesenchyme is also able to stimulate ameloblast differentiation. In addition. only Bmp4 was expressed on both labial and lingual side mesenchymal cells underlying inner dental epithelium, which led us to conclude that BMP4 is the major BMP signal regulating ameloblast differentiation in vivo.

To further identify the inducer of ameloblast differentiation, we performed *in vitro* bead induction experiments by placing growth factor releasing beads on isolated mouse incisor tooth germs. The induced genes were analyzed by whole mount *in situ* hybridisation. We first analyzed the induction of p21 to see which signals were able to trigger to cells to escape from the cell cycle. In E15 incisor germs, BMP2, BMP4, and BMP7-soaked beads all induced intense signals around the beads. Activin Asoaked beads could also stimulate p21 expression, but the expression was quite

weak and not around the beads, but confined to the anterior cells that expressed p21 endogenously. The induction of the other ameloblast marker gene, ameloblastin, showed similar results. In both E15 and E16 incisors, BMP proteins induced very intense ameloblastin signals around the beads. whilst activin A-releasing beads only stimulated endogenous expression of ameloblastin. To further confirm the maior role of **BMPs** on the differentiation of ameloblasts. we introduced noggin-releasing beads on E15 and E16 incisors. Noggin is a strong extracellular inhibitor of BMPs. Nogginreleasing beads dramatically downregulated endogenous ameloblastin expression. These results, together with the specific expression pattern of Bmp4 in the dental papilla mesenchyme, suggest that BMP4 is the major regulator of ameloblast differentiation and that follistatin functions locally in the dental epithelium by inhibiting the ameloblastinducing activity of BMP4 from the underlying mesenchyme. However, noggin is not expressed in the developing teeth (our unpublished data). Since the lingual ameloblast differentiation is not completely rescued in follistatin mutant mice, we propose that there may be some other BMP inhibitors that act redundantly with follistatin on the lingual side dental epithelium and prevent ameloblast differentiation.

Previous work has shown that during early molar tooth development, activin  $\beta A$  from the dental mesenchyme can induce follistatin in the dental epithelium. In the chick ectoderm, exogenous BMP is also able to induce follistatin expression (Patel et al., 1999). To determine the upstream regulator of follistatin during incisor development, we performed in vitro bead induction experiments with activin A and BMP2, BMP4, and BMP7 beads. In both E15 and E16 incisor germs, activin Areleasing beads induced intense signals around the beads, whilst none of the BMPs had any inductive effects. Since activin  $\beta A$  is expressed in the dental follicle, our results unravelled a novel role of the dental follicle as a regulator of enamel formation. Dental follicle cells are derived from condensed dental mesenchymal cells at bud stage. During cap stage. condensed dental mesenchymal cells segregate into dental papilla cells enveloped by the enamel organ and dental follicle cells surrounding the whole tooth germ. The function of the dental follicle has been related to the formation of cementum and periodontal tissue attaching teeth to the alveolar bone (Ten Cate, 1998). The dental follicle can recruit osteoclasts for resorption of bone on the coronal tooth surface and help with tooth eruption into the oral cavity. This activity has been shown to be regulated by parathyroid hormone-related protein (PTHrP) secreted from the enamel organ epithelial cells formation. Our finding is the first indication that the dental follicle can also function on the dental epithelium and negatively regulate ameloblast differentiation. It appears that the integrating interactions between the dental follicle, dental epithelium, and odontoblasts spatially and temporarily regulate enamel formation.

Based on these results, we propose a model where BMP4 signals from odontoblasts trigger ameloblast differentiation in the overlying dental epithelium; Activin A from the outside dental follicle induces follistatin expression, which in turn acts locally in the dental epithelium and inhibits the ameloblast-inducing activity of BMP4. The differentiation of ameloblasts only starts after follistatin expression is downregulated in the labial side dental epithelium. The lingual dental epithelium continues to express follistatin and thus prevents enamel formation (Fig. 7). Since activin  $\beta A$  was expressed in both labial and lingual side dental follicle regions, the mechanism for the down-regulation of follistatin only on the labial aspect remains to be resolved. Taken together, our studies have shown that the differentiation of ameloblasts of mouse incisors is regulated by antagonistic effects of activin and BMPs from two adjacent mesenchymal tissue layers, and that follistatin integrates these activities and spatially and temporarily regulates enamel formation.



**Fig. 7. Schematic representation of the molecular regulation of ameloblast differentiation in mouse incisors.** Odontoblasts express BMP, which induce ameloblast differentiation. Activin from the dental follicle induces follistatin expression in the dental epithelium. Follistatin inhibits the activity of BMPs and thereby regulates enamel formation.

### 5. CONCLUDING REMARKS

During the last 15 years, we have seen remarkable advances in the of understanding the molecular mechanisms of tooth development. Signals and signaling pathways, as well as their interactions have started to be elucidated. One of the most important findings has been the identification of signaling centers, i.e. enamel knots, in the developing tooth. The importance of enamel knot has been well demonstrated previously in several knockout mouse models, including Msx1, Pax9, and Lef1. In all these mutant mice, development of the tooth was arrested at bud stage with no obvious enamel knot formation. Our studies have shown that in Runx2 mutant mouse molars, enamel knot had started to form, but the formation was severely disturbed and thus the tooth bud was still not able to develop into the cap stage. In follistatin mutant mice, although the primary enamel knot had formed and expressed normal enamel knot marker genes, its function was apparently affected resulting in the defects in secondary enamel knot formation and aberrant tooth shapes. All these data emphasize the importance of the enamel knot as a signaling center during tooth development. The enamel knot itself does not proliferate but it regulates cell proliferation in adjacent cells. To date, more than 10 different signal molecules have been demonstrated to be expressed in this enamel knot region and they may play various roles in the teeth. The enamel knot may function by integrating these diverse actions and thus regulating the rigid temporal and spatial schedule of tooth development.

Another important finding in tooth development is the reiterative use of

signals at different developmental stages. For example, BMP4 is involved in tooth identity determination and primary enamel knot formation. In this study, we provide further evidence showing that BMP4 also regulates the function of primary and secondary enamel knots as well as terminal differentiation of ameloblasts. Meanwhile, the activin/ BMP signaling inhibitor, follistatin, also acts in different processes corresponding to the temporal and spatial activities of its ligands. The transcription factor Runx2 was also involved in several different signaling pathways during early tooth morphogenesis and later in odontoblast differentiation. The precise actions of these genes during different developmental windows may depend on the environment they work in and also the developmental competence of the target cells.

During our studies, an unanticipated finding was that the differentiation of ameloblasts is spatially and temporarily regulated by antagonistic interactions between BMPs and their inhibitor follistatin, and so terminal differentiation of ameloblasts is achieved by downregulation of follistatin. A similar developmental regulatory process was recently demonstrated during osteogenesis as the differentiation of osteoblasts is actually determined by the relief of a Runx2-inhibitor twist (Bialek et al., 2004). With animals as complex as they are, it is not surprising that many inductive pathways have multiple additional levels of regulation. In fact, inhibiting signals may be as important as the inductive signals. The FGF signal inhibitor sprouty, Wnt signal inhibitor Dickkopf1, as well as Shh inhibitor

patched, are all expressed in the developing tooth, however, the precise roles of these inhibitors are still not fully understood. As many developmental regulatory processes are also conserved during embryogenesis, it will not be surprising to find more processes regulated by activator-inhibitor interactions in tooth development. In this study, we also provide evidence that the dental follicle negatively regulates cell differentiation in the dental epithelium and counteracts the inducing activity of odontoblasts. Sequential and reciprocal interactions between dental epithelium and dental papilla mesenchyme have been well characterised. but the interactions between dental follicle and dental epithelium are poorly understood. results have unravelled Our the reciprocal interactions between three tissue layers during tooth development and further emphasized the rigid and complex controls of organogenesis.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was carried out at the Institute of Biotechnology under the supervision of Professor Irma Thesleff during the years 1999-2004. I am deeply grateful to Irma for taking me into the group and providing me with an excellent working environment. More importantly, Irma has given me the freedom and opportunities to learn and try from different aspects of the field. Although Irma is an internationally wellknown scientist, she is always modest and prudent, which has deeply impressed me during these years. I would like to thank Irma, from the bottom of my heart, for her guidance and help to where I am today. I feel very lucky and have found it enjoyable to be her student, and I hope it will continue in the future.

I would also like to thank Professor Mart Saarma, the Head of Institute of Biotechnology, for placing the excellent working facilities and resources for my research work.

Special thanks to Docent Marja Mikkola, Docent Juha Partanen, and Docent Kirsi Sainio for providing valuable advice and suggestions to improve the manuscripts and the thesis work.

All the people at Developmental Biology group have been a great help. In particular, the present and former members of the Tooth group have given me pleasant help and collaborations. Warm thanks to Thomas Åberg, Ritva Rice, David Rice, and Soile Keränen, who have been especially fun and knowledgeable. I have enjoyed and learned a lot in the same office and lab with them. I would also like to thank Johanna Pispa for kindly help during these years. Many thanks to Merja Mäkinen Heidi Kettunen. Riikka Santalahti, Ludermila Razzkozova, and Mariana Loto Pena for excellent help and technical assistance. I would also like to thank Marika Suomalainen, Carin Sahlberg and Marjatta Kivekäs for taking time to help me with the experiments.

Professor Sabine Werner in Switzerland and Professor Martin M. Matzuk in Houston are warmly thanked for collaboration with the transgenic mice.

Docent Kristiina Heikinheimo and Docent Tapio Heino are warmly thanked for reviewing the manuscript and providing constructive criticism on the thesis book. I would also like to thank Alistair Evans for careful correction of the English language and other mistakes in the thesis, and Timo Päivärinta for helping with editing the book.

I wish to thank the Animal Center at the Viikki Biocenter for taking care of the transgenic mice.

I also thank the Viikki Graduate School in Biosciences for providing financial support of this work. Also thanks for Nina Saris and Eeva Sievi for kindly help with the study.

I would like to thank my parents, whose support and interest have been of great importance throughout my life. At those times when I feel overwhelmed, they were always there to provide encouragement. Without this, nothing will be possible.

Last, but certainly not least, I would like to thank my husband, Tailin, and our son, Yuankang, for their love and countless hours of long distance support. That is a gift from God!

Helsinki, June 2004

Xiu-Ping Wang Xiu-Ping Wang

#### REFERENCES

Amar, S., Karcher-Djuricic, V., Meyer, J.M., and Ruch, J.V. (1986). The lingual (root analogue) and the labial (crown analogue) mouse incisor dentin promotes ameloblast differentiation. Arch. Anat. Microsc. Morphol. Exp. 75, 229-239.

Amar, S., Luo, W., Snead, M.L., and Ruch, J.V. (1989). Amelogenin gene expression in mouse incisor heterotopic recombinations. Differentiation 41, 56-61.

Amthor, H., Christ, B., Rashid-Doubell, F., Kemp, C.F., Lang, E., and Patel, K. (2002). Follistatin regulates bone morphogenetic protein-7 (BMP-7) activity to stimulate embryonic muscle growth. Dev. Biol. 243, 115-127.

Bachiller D, Klingensmith J, Kemp C, Belo JA, Anderson RM, May SR, McMahon JA, McMahon AP, Harland RM, Rossant J, De Robertis EM. (2000). The organizer factors Chordin and Noggin are required for mouse forebrain development. Nature 403:658-61.

Balemans, W., and Van Hul, W. (2002). Extracellular regulation of BMP signaling in vertebrates: a cocktail of modulators. Dev. Biol. 250, 231-250.

Bangsow, C., Rubins, N., Glusman, G., Bernstein, Y., Negreanu, V., Goldenberg, D., Lotem, J., Ben-Asher, E., Lancet, D., Levanon, D., and Groner, Y. (2001). The RUNX3 gene—sequence, structure and regulated expression. Gene 279, 221-232.

Begue-Kirn, C., Ruch, J.V., Ridall, A.L., and Butler, W.T. (1998). Comparative analysis of mouse DSP and DPP expression in odontoblasts, preameloblasts, and experimentally induced odontoblast-like cells. Eur. J. Oral Sci. 106 suppl 1, 254-259.

Begue-Kirn, C., Smith, A.J., Loriot, M., Kupferle, C., Ruch, J.V., and Lesot, H. (1994). Comparative analysis of TGF beta s, BMPs, IGF1, msxs, fibronectin, osteonectin and bone sialoprotein gene expression during normal and in vitro-induced odontoblast differentiation. Int. J. Dev. Biol. 38, 405-420. Begue-Kirn, C., Smith, A.J., Ruch, J.V., Wozney, J.M., Purchio, A., Hartmann, D., and Lesot, H. (1992). Effects of dentin proteins, transforming growth factor beta 1 (TGF beta 1) and bone morphogenetic protein 2 (BMP2) on the differentiation of odontoblast in vitro. Int. J. Dev. Biol. 36, 491-503.

Bei, M., Kratochwil, K., and Maas, R.L. (2000). BMP4 rescues a non-cellautonomous function of Msx1 in tooth development. Development 127, 4711-4718.

Bei, M., and Maas, R. (1998). FGFs and BMP4 induce both Msx1-independent and Msx1-dependent signaling pathways in early tooth development. Development 125, 4325-4333.

Berkovitz, B.K.B., Holland, G.R., Moxham, B.J. (2002). Oral anatomy, histology, and embryology. Mosby international limited.

Bialek, P., Kern, B., Yang, X., Schrock, M., Sosic, D., Hong, N., Wu, H., Yu, K., Ornitz, D.M., Olson, E.N., Justice, M.J., and Karsenty, G. (2004). A twist code determines the onset of osteoblast differentiation. Dev. Cell. 6, 423-435.

Bitgood, M.J., and McMahon, A.P. (1995). Hedgehog and Bmp genes are coexpressed at many diverse sites of cell-cell interaction in the mouse embryo. Dev. Biol. 172, 126-138.

Bloch-Zupan, A., Leveillard, T., Gorry, P., Fausser, J.L., and Ruch, J.V. (1998). Expression of p21(WAF1/CIP1) during mouse odontogenesis. Eur. J. Oral Sci. 106 suppl 1, 104-111.

Bonnaud, A. (1984). Cellular changes at the level of the outer enamel epithelium during vascularization of the enamel organ in the rat. J. Biol. Buccale 12, 225-237.

Bosshardt, D.D., and Nanci, A. (1997). Immunodetection of enamel- and cementumrelated (bone) proteins at the enamel-free area and cervical portion of the tooth in rat molars. J. Bone Miner. Res. 12, 367-379. Bosshardt, D.D., Zalzal, S., McKee, M.D., and Nanci, A. (1998). Developmental appearance and distribution of bone sialoprotein and osteopontin in human and rat cementum. Anat. Rec. 250, 13-33.

Boukari, A., and Ruch, J.V. (1981). [Behavior of embryonic mouse teeth in vitro: preservation of the crown pattern and mineralization]. J. Biol. Buccale 9, 349-361.

Breit, S., Ashman, K., Wilting, J., Rossler, J., Hatzi, E., Fotsis, T., and Schweigerer, L. (2000). The N-myc oncogene in human neuroblastoma cells: down-regulation of an angiogenesis inhibitor identified as activin A. Cancer Res. 60, 4596-4601.

Brown, D.J., Kim, T.B., Petty, E.M., Downs, C.A., Martin, D.M., Strouse, P.J., Moroi, S.E., Milunsky, J.M., and Lesperance, M.M. (2002). Autosomal dominant stapes ankylosis with broad thumbs and toes, hyperopia, and skeletal anomalies is caused by heterozygous nonsense and frameshift mutations in NOG, the gene encoding noggin. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 71, 618-624.

Brunet, LJ, McMahon, JA, McMahon, AP, Harland, RM. (1998). Noggin, cartilage morphogenesis, and joint formation in the mammalian skeleton. Science. 280:1455-7.

Cam, Y., Lesot, H., Colosetti, P., and Ruch, J.V. (1997). Distribution of transforming growth factor beta1-binding proteins and low-affinity receptors during odontoblast differentiation in the mouse. Arch. Oral Biol. 42, 385-391.

Cam, Y., Neumann, M.R., Oliver, L., Raulais, D., Janet, T., and Ruch, J.V. (1992). Immunolocalization of acidic and basic fibroblast growth factors during mouse odontogenesis. Int. J. Dev. Biol. 36, 381-389.

Candia, A.F., Watabe, T., Hawley, S.H., Onichtchouk, D., Zhang, Y., Derynck, R., Niehrs, C., and Cho, K.W. (1997). Cellular interpretation of multiple TGF-beta signals: intracellular antagonism between activin/ BVg1 and BMP-2/4 signaling mediated by Smads. Development 124, 4467-4480. Caterina, J.J., Skobe, Z., Shi, J., Ding, Y., Simmer, J.P., Birkedal-Hansen, H., and Bartlett, J.D. (2002). Enamelysin (matrix metalloproteinase 20)-deficient mice display an amelogenesis imperfect aphenotype. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 49598-49604.

Celli, G., LaRochelle, W.J., Mackem, S., Sharp, R., and Merlino, G. (1998). Soluble dominant-negative receptor uncovers essential roles for fibroblast growth factors in multi-organ induction and patterning. EMBO J. 17, 1642-1655.

Chai, Y., Jiang, X., Ito, Y., Bringas, P., Jr, Han, J., Rowitch, D.H., Soriano, P., McMahon, A.P., and Sucov, H.M. (2000). Fate of the mammalian cranial neural crest during tooth and mandibular morphogenesis. Development 127, 1671-1679.

Chang, H., Lau, A.L., and Matzuk, M.M. (2001). Studying TGF-beta superfamily signaling by knockouts and knockins. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 180, 39-46.

Chen, Y., Bei, M., Woo, I., Satokata, I., and Maas, R. (1996). Msx1 controls inductive signaling in mammalian tooth morphogenesis. Development 122, 3035-3044.

Cobourne, M.T., Hardcastle, Z., and Sharpe, P.T. (2001). Sonic hedgehog regulates epithelial proliferation and cell survival in the developing tooth germ. J. Dent. Res. 80, 1974-1979.

Cobourne, M.T., and Sharpe, P.T. (2003). Tooth and jaw: molecular mechanisms of patterning in the first branchial arch. Arch. Oral Biol. 48, 1-14.

Coffman, J.A. (2003). Runx transcription factors and the developmental balance between cell proliferation and differentiation. Cell Biol. Int. 27, 315-324.

Coin, R., Haikel, Y., and Ruch, J.V. (1999a). Effects of apatite, transforming growth factor beta-1, bone morphogenetic protein-2 and interleukin-7 on ameloblast differentiation in vitro. Eur. J. Oral Sci. 107, 487-495. Coin, R., Lesot, H., Vonesch, J.L., Haikel, Y., and Ruch, J.V. (1999b). Aspects of cell proliferation kinetics of the inner dental epithelium during mouse molar and incisor morphogenesis: a reappraisal of the role of the enamel knot area. Int. J. Dev. Biol. 43, 261-267.

Couble, M.L., Farges, J.C., Bleicher, F., Perrat-Mabillon, B., Boudeulle, M., and Magloire, H. (2000). Odontoblast differentiation of human dental pulp cells in explant cultures. Calcif. Tissue Int. 66, 129-138.

Crute, B.E., Lewis, A.F., Wu, Z., Bushweller, J.H., and Speck, N.A. (1996). Biochemical and biophysical properties of the corebinding factor alpha2 (AML1) DNA-binding domain. J. Biol. Chem. 271, 26251-26260.

D'Alonzo, R.C., Selvamurugan, N., Karsenty, G., and Partridge, N.C. (2002). Physical interaction of the activator protein-1 factors c-Fos and c-Jun with Cbfa1 for collagenase-3 promoter activation. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 816-822.

Daluisk, i A, Engstrand, T, Bahamonde, ME, Gamer, LW, Agius, E, Stevenson, SL, Cox, K, Rosen, V, and Lyons, KM. (2001). Bone morphogenetic protein-3 is a negative regulator of bone density. Nat Genet. 27:84-8.

Dassule, H.R., Lewis, P., Bei, M., Maas, R., and McMahon, A.P. (2000). Sonic hedgehog regulates growth and morphogenesis of the tooth. Development 127, 4775-4785.

Dassule, H.R., and McMahon, A.P. (1998). Analysis of epithelial-mesenchymal interactions in the initial morphogenesis of the mammalian tooth. Dev. Biol. 202, 215-227.

de Groot, E., Feijen, A., Eib, D., Zwijsen, A., Sugino, H., Martens, G., and Van Den Eijnden-Van Raaij, A.J. (2000a). Expression patterns of follistatin and two follistatinrelated proteins during mouse development. Int. J. Dev. Biol. 44, 327-330. de Groot, E., Veltmaat, J., Caricasole, A., Defize, L., and van den Eijnden-van Raaij,,A. (2000b). Cloning and analysis of the mouse follistatin promoter. Mol. Biol. Rep. 27, 129-139.

de Moerlooze, L., Spencer-Dene, B., Revest, J., Hajihosseini, M., Rosewell, I., and Dickson, C. (2000). An important role for the IIIb isoform of fibroblast growth factor receptor 2 (FGFR2) in mesenchymalepithelial signaling during mouse organogenesis. Development 127, 483-492.

de Winter, J.P., ten Dijke, P., de Vries, C.J., van Achterberg, T.A., Sugino, H., de Waele, P., Huylebroeck, D., Verschueren, K., and van den Eijnden-van Raaij,,A.J. (1996). Follistatins neutralize activin bioactivity by inhibition of activin binding to its type II receptors. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 116, 105-114.

Dionne, MS, Skarnes, WC, and Harland, RM. (2001). Mutation and analysis of Dan, the founding member of the Dan family of transforming growth factor beta antagonists. Mol. Cell Biol. 21, 636-43.

Dickson, MC, Martin, JS, Cousins, FM, Kulkarni,AB, Karlsson, S, Akhurst, RJ. (1995). Defective haematopoiesis and vasculogenesis in transforming growth factor-beta 1 knock out mice. Development 121, 1845-54.

Drissi, H., Luc, Q., Shakoori, R., Chuva De Sousa Lopes, S., Choi, J.Y., Terry, A., Hu, M., Jones, S., Neil, J.C., and Lian, J.B. et al. (2000). Transcriptional autoregulation of the bone related CBFA1/RUNX2 gene. J. Cell. Physiol. 184, 341-350.

D'Souza, R.N., Åberg, T., Gaikwad, J., Cavender, A., Owen, M., Karsenty, G., and Thesleff, I. (1999). Cbfa1 is required for epithelial-mesenchymal interactions regulating tooth development in mice. Development 126, 2911-2920.

Duboule, D., and Morata, G. (1994). Colinearity and functional hierarchy among genes of the homeotic complexes. Trends Genet. 10, 358-364.

Ducy, P., Zhang, R., Geoffroy, V., Ridall, A.L., and Karsenty, G. (1997). Osf2/Cbfa1: a transcriptional activator of osteoblast differentiation. Cell 89, 747-754.

Dudley, AT, Lyons, KM, and Robertson, EJ. (1995). A requirement for bone morphogenetic protein-7 during development of the mammalian kidney and eye. Genes Dev. 9, 2795-807.

Erämaa, M., Hurme, M., Stenman, U.H., and Ritvos, O. (1992). Activin A/erythroid differentiation factor is induced during human monocyte activation. J. Exp. Med. 176, 1449-1452.

Fainsod, A., Deissler, K., Yelin, R., Marom, K., Epstein, M., Pillemer, G., Steinbeisser, H., and Blum, M. (1997). The dorsalizing and neural inducing gene follistatin is an antagonist of BMP-4. Mech. Dev. 63, 39-50.

Fang, J., Yin, W., Smiley, E., Wang, S.Q., and Bonadio, J. (1996). Molecular cloning of the mouse activin beta E subunit gene. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 228, 669-674.

Ferguson, C.A., Tucker, A.S., Christensen, L., Lau, A.L., Matzuk, M.M., and Sharpe, P.T. (1998). Activin is an essential early mesenchymal signal in tooth development that is required for patterning of the murine dentition. Genes Dev. 12, 2636-2649.

Ferguson, C.A., Tucker, A.S., and Sharpe, P.T. (2000). Temporospatial cell interactions regulating mandibular and maxillary arch patterning. Development 127, 403-412.

Flaumenhaft, R., Abe, M., Sato, Y., Miyazono, K., Harpel, J., Heldin, C.H., and Rifkin, D.B. (1993). Role of the latent TGFbeta binding protein in the activation of latent TGF-beta by co-cultures of endothelial and smooth muscle cells. J. Cell Biol. 120, 995-1002. Flomen, R.H., Vatcheva, R., Gorman, P.A., Baptista, P.R., Groet, J., Barisic, I., Ligutic, I., and Nizetic, D. (1998). Construction and analysis of a sequence-ready map in 4q25: Rieger syndrome can be caused by haploinsufficiency of RIEG, but also by chromosome breaks approximately 90 kb upstream of this gene. Genomics 47, 409-413.

Franceschi, R.T., Xiao, G., Jiang, D., Gopalakrishnan, R., Yang, S., and Reith, E. (2003). Multiple signaling pathways converge on the Cbfa1/Runx2 transcription factor to regulate osteoblast differentiation. Connect. Tissue Res. 44 suppl 1, 109-116.

Gamer, L.W., Cox, K.A., Small, C., and Rosen, V. (2001). Gdf11 is a negative regulator of chondrogenesis and myogenesis in the developing chick limb. Dev. Biol. 229, 407-420.

Gong, Y., Krakow, D., Marcelino, J., Wilkin, D., Chitayat, D., Babul-Hirji, R., Hudgins, L., Cremers, C.W., Cremers, F.P., and Brunner, H.G. et al. (1999). Heterozygous mutations in the gene encoding noggin affect human joint morphogenesis. Nat. Genet. 21, 302-304.

Grigoriou, M., Tucker, A.S., Sharpe, P.T., and Pachnis, V. (1998). Expression and regulation of Lhx6 and Lhx7, a novel subfamily of LIM homeodomain encoding genes, suggests a role in mammalian head development. Development 125, 2063-2074.

Gritli-Linde, A., Bei, M., Maas, R., Zhang, X.M., Linde, A., and McMahon, A.P. (2002). Shh signaling within the dental epithelium is necessary for cell proliferation, growth and polarization. Development 129, 5323-5337.

Gritli-Linde, A., Lewis, P., McMahon, A.P., and Linde, A. (2001). The whereabouts of a morphogen: direct evidence for short- and graded long-range activity of hedgehog signaling peptides. Dev. Biol. 236, 364-386. Gruneberg, H. (1971). The tabby syndrome in the mouse. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B. Biol. Sci. 179, 139-156.

Gumienny, T.L., and Padgett, R.W. (2002). The other side of TGF-beta superfamily signal regulation: thinking outside the cell. Trends Endocrinol. Metab. 13, 295-299.

Hanai, J., Chen, L.F., Kanno, T., Ohtani-Fujita, N., Kim, W.Y., Guo, W.H., Imamura, T., Ishidou, Y., Fukuchi, M., and Shi, M.J. et al. (1999). Interaction and functional cooperation of PEBP2/CBF with Smads. Synergistic induction of the immunoglobulin germline Calpha promoter. J. Biol. Chem. 274, 31577-31582.

Harada, H., Kettunen, P., Jung, H.S., Mustonen, T., Wang, Y.A., and Thesleff, I. (1999). Localization of putative stem cells in dental epithelium and their association with Notch and FGF signaling. J. Cell Biol. 147, 105-120.

Harada, H., Toyono, T., Toyoshima, K., Yamasaki, M., Itoh, N., Kato, S., Sekine, K., and Ohuchi, H. (2002). FGF10 maintains stem cell compartment in developing mouse incisors. Development 129, 1533-1541.

Hardcastle, Z., Mo, R., Hui, C.C., and Sharpe, P.T. (1998). The Shh signaling pathway in tooth development: defects in Gli2 and Gli3 mutants. Development 125, 2803-2811.

Hashimoto, O., Nakamura, T., Shoji, H., Shimasaki, S., Hayashi, Y., and Sugino, H. (1997). A novel role of follistatin, an activinbinding protein, in the inhibition of activin action in rat pituitary cells. Endocytotic degradation of activin and its acceleration by follistatin associated with cell-surface heparan sulfate. J. Biol. Chem. 272, 13835-13842.

Hayette, S., Gadoux, M., Martel, S., Bertrand, S., Tigaud, I., Magaud, J.P., and Rimokh, R. (1998). FLRG (follistatin-related gene), a new target of chromosomal rearrangement in malignant blood disorders. Oncogene 16, 2949-2954. Headon, D.J., Emmal, S.A., Ferguson, B.M., Tucker, A.S., Justice, M.J., Sharpe, P.T., Zonana, J., and Overbeek, P.A. (2001). Gene defect in ectodermal dysplasia implicates a death domain adapter in development. Nature 414, 913-916.

Heikinheimo, K., Begue-Kirn, C., Ritvos, O., Tuuri, T., and Ruch, J.V. (1998). Activin and bone morphogenetic protein (BMP) signaling during tooth development. Eur. J. Oral Sci. 106 suppl 1, 167-173.

Heikinheimo, K., Begue-Kirn, C., Ritvos, O., Tuuri, T., and Ruch, J.V. (1997). The activinbinding protein follistatin is expressed in developing murine molar and induces odontoblast-like cell differentiation in vitro. J. Dent. Res. 76, 1625-1636.

Hemmati-Brivanlou, A., Kelly, O.G., and Melton, D.A. (1994). Follistatin, an antagonist of activin, is expressed in the Spemann organizer and displays direct neuralizing activity. Cell 77, 283-295.

Hogan, B.L. (1999). Morphogenesis. Cell 96, 225-233.

Huang, G., Shigesada, K., Ito, K., Wee, H.J., Yokomizo, T., and Ito, Y. (2001). Dimerization with PEBP2beta protects RUNX1/AML1 from ubiquitin-proteasomemediated degradation. EMBO J. 20, 723-733.

Iemura, S., Yamamoto, T.S., Takagi, C., Uchiyama, H., Natsume, T., Shimasaki, S., Sugino, H., and Ueno, N. (1998). Direct binding of follistatin to a complex of bonemorphogenetic protein and its receptor inhibits ventral and epidermal cell fates in early Xenopus embryo. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 95, 9337-9342.

Imai, H., Osumi-Yamashita, N., Ninomiya, Y., and Eto, K. (1996). Contribution of earlyemigrating midbrain crest cells to the dental mesenchyme of mandibular molar teeth in rat embryos. Dev. Biol. 176, 151-165.

Ito, Y. (1999). Molecular basis of tissuespecific gene expression mediated by the runt domain transcription factor PEBP2/ CBF. Genes Cells 4, 685-696.

Ito, Y., and Miyazono, K. (2003). RUNX transcription factors as key targets of TGFbeta superfamily signaling. Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev. 13, 43-47.

Javed, A., Barnes, G.L., Jasanya, B.O., Stein, J.L., Gerstenfeld, L., Lian, J.B., and Stein, G.S. (2001). runt homology domain transcription factors (Runx, Cbfa, and AML) mediate repression of the bone sialoprotein promoter: evidence for promoter contextdependent activity of Cbfa proteins. Mol. Cell. Biol. 21, 2891-2905.

Jensen, B.L. (1990). Somatic development in cleidocranial dysplasia. Am. J. Med. Genet. 35, 69-74.

Jernvall, J., Åberg, T., Kettunen, P., Keränen, S., and Thesleff, I. (1998). The life history of an embryonic signaling center: BMP-4 induces p21 and is associated with apoptosis in the mouse tooth enamel knot. Development 125, 161-169.

Jernvall, J., Kettunen, P., Karavanova, I., Martin, L.B., and Thesleff, I. (1994). Evidence for the role of the enamel knot as a control center in mammalian tooth cusp formation: non-dividing cells express growth stimulating Fgf-4 gene. Int. J. Dev. Biol. 38, 463-469.

Jernvall, J., and Thesleff, I. (2000). Reiterative signaling and patterning during mammalian tooth morphogenesis. Mech. Dev. 92, 19-29.

Jhaveri, S., Erzurumlu, R.S., Chiaia, N., Kumar, T.R., and Matzuk, M.M. (1998). Defective whisker follicles and altered brainstem patterns in activin and follistatin knockout mice. Mol. Cell. Neurosci. 12, 206-219.

Joseph, B.K., Savage, N.W., Young, W.G., Gupta, G.S., Breier, B.H., and Waters, M.J. (1993). Expression and regulation of insulinlike growth factor-I in the rat incisor. Growth Factors 8, 267-275. Jowett, A.K, Vainio, S, Ferguson, M.W, Sharpe, P.T, and Thesleff, I. (1993). Epithelial-mesenchymal interactions are required for msx 1 and msx 2 gene expression in the developing murine molar tooth. Development. 117, 461-70.

Kaartinen V, Voncken JW, Shuler C, Warburton D, Bu D, Heisterkamp N, Groffen J. (1995). Abnormal lung development and cleft palate in mice lacking TGF-beta 3 indicates defects of epithelial-mesenchymal interaction. Nat Genet. 11:415-21.

Kanno, T., Kanno, Y., Chen, L.F., Ogawa, E., Kim, W.Y., and Ito, Y. (1998). Intrinsic transcriptional activation-inhibition domains of the polyomavirus enhancer binding protein 2/core binding factor alpha subunit revealed in the presence of the beta subunit. Mol. Cell. Biol. 18, 2444-2454.

Karcher-Djuricic, V., Staubli, A., Meyer, J.M., and Ruch, J.V. (1985). Acellular dental matrices promote functional differentiation of ameloblasts. Differentiation 29, 169-175.

Karsenty, G., Luo, G., Hofmann, C., and Bradley, A. (1996). BMP 7 is required for nephrogenesis, eye development, and skeletal patterning. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 785, 98-107.

Karsenty, G., and Wagner, E.F. (2002). Reaching a genetic and molecular understanding of skeletal development. Dev. Cell. 2, 389-406.

Keränen, S.V., Kettunen, P., Åberg, T., Thesleff, I., and Jernvall, J. (1999). Gene expression patterns associated with suppression of odontogenesis in mouse and vole diastema regions. Dev. Genes Evol. 209, 495-506.

Kern, B., Shen, J., Starbuck, M., and Karsenty, G. (2001). Cbfa1 contributes to the osteoblast-specific expression of type I collagen genes. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 7101-7107.

Kettunen, P., Laurikkala, J., Itaranta, P., Vainio, S., Itoh, N., and Thesleff, I. (2000). Associations of FGF-3 and FGF-10 with signaling networks regulating tooth morphogenesis. Dev. Dyn. 219, 322-332.

Kettunen, P., and Thesleff, I. (1998). Expression and function of FGFs-4, -8, and -9 suggest functional redundancy and repetitive use as epithelial signals during tooth morphogenesis. Dev. Dyn. 211, 256-268.

Kingsley, D.M, Bland, A.E, Grubber, J.M, Marker, P.C, Russell, L.B, Copeland, N.G, and Jenkins, N.A. (1992). The mouse short ear skeletal morphogenesis locus is associated with defects in a bone morphogenetic member of the TGF beta superfamily. Cell. 71, 399-410.

Kjoelby, M., Thesleff, I., Sahlberg, C., Fejerskov, O., and Josephsen, K. (1994). Degradation of the dental basement membrane during mouse tooth development in vitro. Int. J. Dev. Biol. 38, 455-462.

Kollar, E.J., and Baird, G.R. (1969). The influence of the dental papilla on the development of tooth shape in embryonic mouse tooth germs. J. Embryol. Exp. Morphol. 21, 131-148.

Kollar, E.J., and Mina, M. (1991). Role of the early epithelium in the patterning of the teeth and Meckel's cartilage. J. Craniofac. Genet. Dev. Biol. 11, 223-228.

Komori, T., Yagi, H., Nomura, S., Yamaguchi, A., Sasaki, K., Deguchi, K., Shimizu, Y., Bronson, R.T., Gao, Y.H., and Inada, M. et al. (1997). Targeted disruption of Cbfa1 results in a complete lack of bone formation owing to maturational arrest of osteoblasts. Cell 89, 755-764.

Kozian, D.H., Ziche, M., and Augustin, H.G. (1997). The activin-binding protein follistatin regulates autocrine endothelial cell activity and induces angiogenesis. Lab. Invest. 76, 267-276.

Kratochwil, K., Dull, M., Farinas, I., Galceran, J., and Grosschedl, R. (1996). Lefl expression is activated by BMP-4 and regulates inductive tissue interactions in tooth and hair development. Genes Dev. 10, 1382-1394.

Kratochwil, K., Galceran, J., Tontsch, S., Roth, W., and Grosschedl, R. (2002). FGF4, a direct target of LEF1 and Wnt signaling, can rescue the arrest of tooth organogenesis in Lef1(-/-) mice. Genes Dev. 16, 3173-3185.

Kreiborg, S., Jensen, B.L., Larsen, P., Schleidt, D.T., and Darvann, T. (1999). Anomalies of craniofacial skeleton and teeth in cleidocranial dysplasia. J. Craniofac. Genet. Dev. Biol. 19, 75-79.

Laurikkala, J., Kassai, Y., Pakkasjarvi, L., Thesleff, I., and Itoh, N. (2003). Identification of a secreted BMP antagonist, ectodin, integrating BMP, FGF, and SHH signals from the tooth enamel knot. Dev. Biol. 264, 91-105.

Laurikkala, J., Mikkola, M., Mustonen, T., Åberg, T., Koppinen, P., Pispa, J., Nieminen, P., Galceran, J., Grosschedl, R., and Thesleff, I. (2001). TNF signaling via the ligandreceptor pair ectodysplasin and edar controls the function of epithelial signaling centers and is regulated by Wnt and activin during tooth organogenesis. Dev. Biol. 229, 443-455.

Laurikkala, J., Pispa, J., Jung, H.S., Nieminen, P., Mikkola, M., Wang, X., Saarialho-Kere, U., Galceran, J., Grosschedl, R., and Thesleff, I. (2002). Regulation of hair follicle development by the TNF signal ectodysplasin and its receptor Edar. Development 129, 2541-2553.

Lee, K.S., Kim, H.J., Li, Q.L., Chi, X.Z., Ueta, C., Komori, T., Wozney, J.M., Kim, E.G., Choi, J.Y., Ryoo, H.M., and Bae, S.C. (2000). Runx2 is a common target of transforming growth factor beta1 and bone morphogenetic protein 2, and cooperation between Runx2 and Smad5 induces osteoblast-specific gene expression in the pluripotent mesenchymal precursor cell line C2C12. Mol. Cell. Biol. 20, 8783-8792.

Lee, S.K, Krebsbach, P.H, Matsuki, Y, Nanci, A, Yamada, K.M, and Yamada, Y. (1996). Ameloblastin expression in rat incisors and human tooth germs. Int J Dev Biol. 40, 1141-50.

Lee, B., Thirunavukkarasu, K., Zhou, L., Pastore, L., Baldini, A., Hecht, J., Geoffroy, V., Ducy, P., and Karsenty, G. (1997). Missense mutations abolishing DNA binding of the osteoblast-specific transcription factor OSF2/CBFA1 in cleidocranial dysplasia. Nat. Genet. 16, 307-310.

Lesot, H. (2000). Odontoblast differentiation and tooth morphogenesis. J. Dent. Res. 79, 1640-1644.

Lesot, H., Fausser, J.L., Akiyama, S.K., Staub, A., Black, D., Kubler, M.D., and Ruch, J.V. (1992). The carboxy-terminal extension of the collagen binding domain of fibronectin mediates interaction with a 165 kDa membrane protein involved in odontoblast differentiation. Differentiation 49, 109-118.

Lesot, H., Kieffer-Combeau, S., Fausser, J.L., Meyer, J.M., Perrin-Schmitt, F., Peterkova, R., Peterka, M., and Ruch, J.V. (2002). Cell-cell and cell-matrix interactions during initial enamel organ histomorphogenesis in the mouse. Connect. Tissue Res. 43, 191-200.

Lesot, H., Kubler, M.D., Fausser, J.L., and Ruch, J.V. (1990). A 165 kDa membrane antigen mediating fibronectin-vinculin interaction is involved in murine odontoblast differentiation. Differentiation 44, 25-35.

Lesot, H., Lisi, S., Peterkova, R., Peterka, M., Mitolo, V., and Ruch, J.V. (2001). Epigenetic signals during odontoblast differentiation. Adv. Dent. Res. 15, 8-13.

Lesot, H., Osman, M., and Ruch, J.V. (1981). Immunofluorescent localization of collagens, fibronectin, and laminin during terminal differentiation of odontoblasts. Dev. Biol. 82, 371-381.

Levanon, D., Bernstein, Y., Negreanu, V., Ghozi, M.C., Bar-Am, I., Aloya, R., Goldenberg, D., Lotem, J., and Groner, Y. (1996). A large variety of alternatively spliced and differentially expressed mRNAs are encoded by the human acute myeloid leukemia gene AML1. DNA Cell Biol. 15, 175-185.

Levanon, D., Bettoun, D., Harris-Cerruti, C., Woolf, E., Negreanu, V., Eilam, R., Bernstein, Y., Goldenberg, D., Xiao, C., and Fliegauf, M. et al. (2002). The Runx3 transcription factor regulates development and survival of TrkC dorsal root ganglia neurons. EMBO J. 21, 3454-3463.

Levanon, D., Goldstein, R.E., Bernstein, Y., Tang, H., Goldenberg, D., Stifani, S., Paroush, Z., and Groner, Y. (1998). Transcriptional repression by AML1 and LEF-1 is mediated by the TLE/Groucho corepressors. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 95, 11590-11595.

Li, Q.L., Ito, K., Sakakura, C., Fukamachi, H., Inoue, K., Chi, X.Z., Lee, K.Y., Nomura, S., Lee, C.W., and Han, S.B. et al. (2002). Causal relationship between the loss of RUNX3 expression and gastric cancer. Cell 109, 113-124.

Lin, C.R., Kioussi, C., O'Connell, S., Briata, P., Szeto, D., Liu, F., Izpisua-Belmonte, J.C., and Rosenfeld, M.G. (1999). Pitx2 regulates lung asymmetry, cardiac positioning and pituitary and tooth morphogenesis. Nature 401, 279-282.

Lin, S.Y., Morrison, J.R., Phillips, D.J., and de Kretser, D.M. (2003). Regulation of ovarian function by the TGF-beta superfamily and follistatin. Reproduction 126, 133-148.

Ling, N., Ying, S.Y., Ueno, N., Shimasaki, S., Esch, F., Hotta, M., and Guillemin, R. (1986). A homodimer of the beta-subunits of inhibin A stimulates the secretion of pituitary follicle stimulating hormone. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 138, 1129-1137.

Lukinmaa, P.L., Jensen, B.L., Thesleff, I., Andreasen, J.O., and Kreiborg, S. (1995). Histological observations of teeth and peridental tissues in cleidocranial dysplasia imply increased activity of odontogenic epithelium and abnormal bone remodeling. J. Craniofac. Genet. Dev. Biol. 15, 212-221.

Lumsden, A.G. (1988). Spatial organization of the epithelium and the role of neural crest cells in the initiation of the mammalian tooth germ. Development 103 Suppl, 155-169.

Luo G, Hofmann C, Bronckers AL, Sohocki M, Bradley A, Karsenty G. (1995). BMP-7 is an inducer of nephrogenesis, and is also required for eye development and skeletal patterning. Genes Dev. 9, 2808-20.

MacDougall, M., Nydegger, J., Gu, T.T., Simmons, D., Luan, X., Cavender, A., and D'Souza, R.N. (1998). Developmental regulation of dentin sialophosphoprotein during ameloblast differentiation: a potential enamel matrix nucleator. Connect. Tissue Res. 39, 25-37; discussion 63-7.

MacDougall, M., Thiemann, F., Ta, H., Hsu, P., Chen, L.S., and Snead, M.L. (1995). Temperature sensitive simian virus 40 large T antigen immortalization of murine odontoblast cell cultures: establishment of clonal odontoblast cell line. Connect. Tissue Res. 33, 97-103.

Maeshima, A., Nojima, Y., and Kojima, I. (2001). The role of the activin-follistatin system in the developmental and regeneration processes of the kidney. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev. 12, 289-298.

Maeshima, A., Zhang, Y.Q., Furukawa, M., Naruse, T., and Kojima, I. (2000). Hepatocyte growth factor induces branching tubulogenesis in MDCK cells by modulating the activin-follistatin system. Kidney Int. 58, 1511-1522. Marchuk, D.A., Srinivasan, S., Squire, T.L., and Zawistowski, J.S. (2003). Vascular morphogenesis: tales of two syndromes. Hum. Mol. Genet. 12, 97-112.

Martin, A., Unda, F.J., Begue-Kirn, C., Ruch, J.V., and Arechaga, J. (1998). Effects of aFGF, bFGF, TGFbeta1 and IGF-I on odontoblast differentiation in vitro. Eur. J. Oral Sci. 106 suppl 1, 117-121.

Massague, J., and Wotton, D. (2000). Transcriptional control by the TGF-beta/ Smad signaling system. EMBO J. 19, 1745-1754.

Matzuk, M.M., Kumar, T.R., Vassalli, A., Bickenbach, J.R., Roop, D.R., Jaenisch, R., and Bradley, A. (1995a). Functional analysis of activins during mammalian development. Nature 374, 354-356.

Matzuk, M.M., Lu, N., Vogel, H., Sellheyer, K., Roop, D.R., and Bradley, A. (1995b). Multiple defects and perinatal death in mice deficient in follistatin. Nature 374, 360-363.

McMahon, J.A, Takada, S, Zimmerman, L.B, Fan, C.M, Harland, R.M, and McMahon, A.P. (1998). Noggin-mediated antagonism of BMP signaling is required for growth and patterning of the neural tube and somite. Genes Dev. 12, 1438-52.

Merker, H.J. (1994). Morphology of the basement membrane. Microsc. Res. Tech. 28, 95-124.

Metsaranta, M, Toman, D, De Crombrugghe, B, and Vuorio, E. (1991). Specific hybridization probes for mouse type I, II, III and IX collagen mRNAs. Biochim Biophys Acta. 1089, 241-3.

Meyer, J.M., Lesot, H., Karcher-Djuricic, V., and Ruch, J.V. (1983). [Basement membranes: general aspects, role in odontogenesis]. Arch. Anat. Histol. Embryol. 66, 163-179.

Michel, U., Farnworth, P., and Findlay, J.K. (1993). Follistatins: more than folliclestimulating hormone suppressing proteins. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 91, 1-11. Millar, S.E., Koyama, E., Reddy, S.T., Andl, T., Gaddapara, T., Piddington, R., and Gibson, C.W. (2003). Over- and ectopic expression of Wnt3 causes progressive loss of ameloblasts in postnatal mouse incisor teeth. Connect. Tissue Res. 44 suppl 1, 124-129.

Mina, M., and Kollar, E.J. (1987). The induction of odontogenesis in non-dental mesenchyme combined with early murine mandibular arch epithelium. Arch. Oral Biol. 32, 123-127.

Miralles, F., Czernichow, P., and Scharfmann, R. (1998). Follistatin regulates the relative proportions of endocrine versus exocrine tissue during pancreatic development. Development 125, 1017-1024.

Mitsiadis, T.A., and Luukko, K. (1995). Neurotrophins in odontogenesis. Int. J. Dev. Biol. 39, 195-202.

Monreal, A.W., Ferguson, B.M., Headon, D.J., Street, S.L., Overbeek, P.A., and Zonana, J. (1999). Mutations in the human homologue of mouse dl cause autosomal recessive and dominant hypohidrotic ectodermal dysplasia. Nat. Genet. 22, 366-369.

Mucchielli, M.L., Mitsiadis, T.A., Raffo, S., Brunet, J.F., Proust, J.P., and Goridis, C. (1997). Mouse Otlx2/RIEG expression in the odontogenic epithelium precedes tooth initiation and requires mesenchyme-derived signals for its maintenance. Dev. Biol. 189, 275-284.

Mundlos, S. (1999). Cleidocranial dysplasia: clinical and molecular genetics. J. Med. Genet. 36, 177-182.

Mundlos, S., Otto, F., Mundlos, C., Mulliken, J.B., Aylsworth, A.S., Albright, S., Lindhout, D., Cole, W.G., Henn, W., and Knoll, J.H. et al. (1997). Mutations involving the transcription factor CBFA1 cause cleidocranial dysplasia. Cell 89, 773-779. Mustonen, T., Pispa, J., Mikkola, M.L., Pummila, M., Kangas, A.T., Pakkasjarvi, L., Jaatinen, R., and Thesleff, I. (2003). Stimulation of ectodermal organ development by Ectodysplasin-A1. Dev. Biol. 259, 123-136.

Mustonen, T, Tummers, M, Mikami, T, Itoh, N, Zhang, N, Gridley, T, and Thesleff, I. (2002). Lunatic fringe, FGF, and BMP regulate the Notch pathway during epithelial morphogenesis of teeth. Dev Biol. 248, 281-93.

Nakamura, M., Bringas, P., and Slavkin, H.C. (1991). Inner enamel epithelia synthesize and secrete enamel proteins during mouse molar occlusal "enamelfree area" development. J. Craniofac. Genet. Dev. Biol. 11, 96-104.

Nakamura, M., Matzuk, M.M., Gerstmayer, B., Bosio, A., Lauster, R., Miyachi, Y., Werner, S., and Paus, R. (2003). Control of pelage hair follicle development and cycling by complex interactions between follistatin and activin. FASEB J. 17, 497-499.

Nakamura, T., Takio, K., Eto, Y., Shibai, H., Titani, K., and Sugino, H. (1990). Activinbinding protein from rat ovary is follistatin. Science 247, 836-838.

Nakashima, K., Zhou, X., Kunkel, G., Zhang, Z., Deng, J.M., Behringer, R.R., and de Crombrugghe, B. (2002). The novel zinc finger-containing transcription factor osterix is required for osteoblast differentiation and bone formation. Cell 108, 17-29.

Neubuser, A., Peters, H., Balling, R., and Martin, G.R. (1997). Antagonistic interactions between FGF and BMP signaling pathways: a mechanism for positioning the sites of tooth formation. Cell 90, 247-255.

Nieminen, P., Arte, S., Tanner, D., Paulin, L., Alaluusua, S., Thesleff, I., and Pirinen, S. (2001). Identification of a nonsense mutation in the PAX9 gene in molar oligodontia. Eur. J. Hum. Genet. 9, 743-746. Nugent, M.A., and Iozzo, R.V. (2000). Fibroblast growth factor-2. Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol. 32, 115-120.

Oda, S., Nishimatsu, S., Murakami, K., and Ueno, N. (1995). Molecular cloning and functional analysis of a new activin beta subunit: a dorsal mesoderm-inducing activity in Xenopus. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 210, 581-588.

Okuda, T., van Deursen, J., Hiebert, S.W., Grosveld, G., and Downing, J.R. (1996). AML1, the target of multiple chromosomal translocations in human leukemia, is essential for normal fetal liver hematopoiesis. Cell 84, 321-330.

Otsuka, F., Moore, R.K., Iemura, S., Ueno, N., and Shimasaki, S. (2001). Follistatin inhibits the function of the oocyte-derived factor BMP-15. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 289, 961-966.

Otto, F., Thornell, A.P., Crompton, T., Denzel, A., Gilmour, K.C., Rosewell, I.R., Stamp, G.W., Beddington, R.S., Mundlos, S., Olsen, B.R., Selby, P.B., and Owen, M.J. (1997). Cbfa1, a candidate gene for cleidocranial dysplasia syndrome, is essential for osteoblast differentiation and bone development. Cell 89, 765-771.

Pardali, E., Xie, X.Q., Tsapogas, P., Itoh, S., Arvanitidis, K., Heldin, C.H., ten Dijke, P., Grundstrom, T., and Sideras, P. (2000). Smad and AML proteins synergistically confer transforming growth factor beta1 responsiveness to human germ-line IgA genes. J. Biol. Chem. 275, 3552-3560.

Patel, K. (1998). Follistatin. Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol. 30, 1087-1093.

Patel, K., Makarenkova, H., and Jung, H.S. (1999). The role of long range, local and direct signaling molecules during chick feather bud development involving the BMPs, follistatin and the Eph receptor tyrosine kinase Eph-A4. Mech. Dev. 86, 51-62.

Peters, H., Neubuser, A., Kratochwil, K., and Balling, R. (1998). Pax9-deficient mice lack pharyngeal pouch derivatives and teeth and exhibit craniofacial and limb abnormalities. Genes Dev. 12, 2735-2747.

Philbrick, W.M., Dreyer, B.E., Nakchbandi, I.A., and Karaplis, A.C. (1998). Parathyroid hormone-related protein is required for tooth eruption. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 95, 11846-11851.

Pispa, J., Jung, H.S., Jernvall, J., Kettunen, P., Mustonen, T., Tabata, M.J., Kere, J., and Thesleff, I. (1999). Cusp patterning defect in Tabby mouse teeth and its partial rescue by FGF. Dev. Biol. 216, 521-534.

Pispa, J., and Thesleff, I. (2003). Mechanisms of ectodermal organogenesis. Dev. Biol. 262, 195-205.

Prince, V., and Lumsden, A. (1994). Hoxa-2 expression in normal and transposed rhombomeres: independent regulation in the neural tube and neural crest. Development 120, 911-923.

Qiu, M., Bulfone, A., Ghattas, I., Meneses, J.J., Christensen, L., Sharpe, P.T., Presley, R., Pedersen, R.A., and Rubenstein, J.L. (1997). Role of the Dlx homeobox genes in proximodistal patterning of the branchial arches: mutations of Dlx-1, Dlx-2, and Dlx-1 and -2 alter morphogenesis of proximal skeletal and soft tissue structures derived from the first and second arches. Dev. Biol. 185, 165-184.

Quack, I., Vonderstrass, B., Stock, M., Aylsworth, A.S., Becker, A., Brueton, L., Lee, P.J., Majewski, F., Mulliken, J.B., and Suri, M. et al. (1999). Mutation analysis of core binding factor A1 in patients with cleidocranial dysplasia. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 65, 1268-1278.

Ramirez-Solis, R., Zheng, H., Whiting, J., Krumlauf, R., and Bradley, A. (1993). Hoxb-4 (Hox-2.6) mutant mice show homeotic transformation of a cervical vertebra and defects in the closure of the sternal rudiments. Cell 73, 279-294. Ritvos, O., Tuuri, T., Erämaa, M., Sainio, K., Hilden, K., Saxen, L., and Gilbert, S.F. (1995). Activin disrupts epithelial branching morphogenesis in developing glandular organs of the mouse. Mech. Dev. 50, 229-245.

Roberts, V.J, and Barth, S.L. (1994). Expression of messenger ribonucleic acids encoding the inhibin/activin system during mid- and late-gestation rat embryogenesis. Endocrinology. 134, 914-23.

Robinson, C., Brookes, S.J., Shore, R.C., and Kirkham, J. (1998). The developing enamel matrix: nature and function. Eur. J. Oral Sci. 106 suppl 1, 282-291.

Robinson, C., Kirkham, J., Brookes, S.J., Bonass, W.A., and Shore, R.C. (1995). The chemistry of enamel development. Int. J. Dev. Biol. 39, 145-152.

Ruch, J.V. (1998). Odontoblast commitment and differentiation. Biochem. Cell Biol. 76, 923-938.

Ruch, J.V. (1993). Cellular kinetics and dental cytodifferentiations. C. R. Seances Soc. Biol. Fil. 187, 575-581.

Ruch, J.V. (1990). Patterned distribution of differentiating dental cells: facts and hypotheses. J. Biol. Buccale 18, 91-98.

Ruch, J.V. (1987). Determinisms of odontogenesis. Revis. Biol. Celular 14, 1-99.

Ruch, J.V., Lesot, H., and Begue-Kirn, C. (1995). Odontoblast differentiation. Int. J. Dev. Biol. 39, 51-68.

Ruch, J.V., Lesot, H., Karcher-Djuricic, V., Meyer, J.M., and Mark, M. (1983). Epithelial-mesenchymal interactions in tooth germs: mechanisms of differentiation. J. Biol. Buccale 11, 173-193.

Sahlberg, C., Reponen, P., Tryggvason, K., and Thesleff, I. (1999). Timp-1, -2 and -3 show coexpression with gelatinases A and B during mouse tooth morphogenesis. Eur. J. Oral Sci. 107, 121-130. Sakakura, Y., Fujiwara, N., and Nawa, T. (1989). Epithelial cytodifferentiation and extracellular matrix formation in enamel-free areas of the occlusal cusp during development of mouse molars: light and electron microscopic studies. Am. J. Anat. 184, 287-297.

Salazar-Ciudad, I., and Jernvall, J. (2002). A gene network model accounting for development and evolution of mammalian teeth. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 99, 8116-8120.

Sanford, LP, Ormsby, I, Gittenberger-de Groot, AC, Sariola, H, Friedman, R, Boivin, GP, Cardell, EL, and Doetschman, T. (1997). TGFbeta2 knockout mice have multiple developmental defects that are nonoverlapping with other TGFbeta knockout phenotypes. Development 124, 2659-70.

Sarkar, L., Cobourne, M., Naylor, S., Smalley, M., Dale, T., and Sharpe, P.T. (2000). Wnt/Shh interactions regulate ectodermal boundary formation during mammalian tooth development. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 97, 4520-4524.

Sarkar, L., and Sharpe, P.T. (1999). Expression of Wnt signaling pathway genes during tooth development. Mech. Dev. 85, 197-200.

Satokata, I., and Maas, R. (1994). Msx1 deficient mice exhibit cleft palate and abnormalities of craniofacial and tooth development. Nat. Genet. 6, 348-356.

Schmitt, J., Hotten, G., Jenkins, N.A., Gilbert, D.J., Copeland, N.G., Pohl, J., and Schrewe, H. (1996). Structure, chromosomal localization, and expression analysis of the mouse inhibin/activin beta C (Inhbc) gene. Genomics 32, 358-366.

Schmitt, R., Lesot, H., Vonesch, J.L., and Ruch, J.V. (1999). Mouse odontogenesis in vitro: the cap-stage mesenchyme controls individual molar crown morphogenesis. Int. J. Dev. Biol. 43, 255-260. Schmitt, R., and Ruch, J.V. (2000). In vitro synchronization of embryonic mouse incisor preodontoblasts and preameloblasts: repercussions on terminal differentiation. Eur. J. Oral Sci. 108, 311-319.

Schneyer, A., Tortoriello, D., Sidis, Y., Keutmann, H., Matsuzaki, T., and Holmes, W. (2001). Follistatin-related protein (FSRP): a new member of the follistatin gene family. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 180, 33-38.

Selvamurugan, N., Chou, W.Y., Pearman, A.T., Pulumati, M.R., and Partridge, N.C. (1998). Parathyroid hormone regulates the rat collagenase-3 promoter in osteoblastic cells through the cooperative interaction of the activator protein-1 site and the runt domain binding sequence. J. Biol. Chem. 273, 10647-10657.

Semina, E.V., Reiter, R., Leysens, N.J., Alward, W.L., Small, K.W., Datson, N.A., Siegel-Bartelt, J., Bierke-Nelson, D., Bitoun, P., Zabel, B.U., Carey, J.C., and Murray, J.C. (1996). Cloning and characterization of a novel bicoid-related homeobox transcription factor gene, RIEG, involved in Rieger syndrome. Nat. Genet. 14, 392-399.

Seow, W.K., and Hertzberg, J. (1995). Dental development and molar root length in children with cleidocranial dysplasia. Pediatr. Dent. 17, 101-105.

Sharpe, P.T. (1995). Homeobox genes and orofacial development. Connect. Tissue Res. 32, 17-25.

Shibanuma, M., Mashimo, J., Mita, A., Kuroki, T., and Nose, K. (1993). Cloning from a mouse osteoblastic cell line of a set of transforming-growth-factor-beta 1-regulated genes, one of which seems to encode a follistatin-related polypeptide. Eur. J. Biochem. 217, 13-19.

Shimasaki, S., Koga, M., Esch, F., Mercado, M., Cooksey, K., Koba, A., and Ling, N. (1988). Porcine follistatin gene structure supports two forms of mature follistatin produced by alternative splicing. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 152, 717-723. Simpson, E.H, Johnson, D.K, Hunsicker, P, Suffolk, R, Jordan, S.A, and Jackson, I.J. (1999). The mouse Cerl (Cerberus related or homoogue) gene is not required for anterior pattern formation. Dev Biol. 213, 202-6.

Smith, A.J., Matthews, J.B., and Hall, R.C. (1998). Transforming growth factor-betal (TGF-beta1) in dentine matrix. Ligand activation and receptor expression. Eur. J. Oral Sci. 106 suppl 1, 179-184.

Smith, C.E. (1998). Cellular and chemical events during enamel maturation. Crit. Rev. Oral Biol. Med. 9, 128-161.

Smith, C.E., and Warshawsky, H. (1976). Movement of entire cell populations during renewal of the rat incisor as shown by radioautography after labeling with 3Hthymidine. The concept of a continuously differentiating cross-sectional segment. (With an appendix on the development of the periodontal ligament). Am. J. Anat. 145, 225-259.

Smith, C.E., and Warshawsky, H. (1975). Cellular renewal in the enamel organ and the odontoblast layer of the rat incisor as followed by radioautography using 3Hthymidine. Anat. Rec. 183, 523-561.

Smith, W.C. (1999). TGF beta inhibitors. New and unexpected requirements in vertebrate development. Trends Genet. 15, 3-5.

Solloway, M.J, and Robertson, E.J. (1999). Early embryonic lethality in Bmp5;Bmp7 double mutant mice suggests functional redundancy within the 60A subgroup. Development 126, 1753-68.

Speck, N.A., and Gilliland, D.G. (2002). Core-binding factors in haematopoiesis and leukaemia. Nat. Rev. Cancer. 2, 502-513.

Sugino, K., Kurosawa, N., Nakamura, T., Takio, K., Shimasaki, S., Ling, N., Titani, K., and Sugino, H. (1993). Molecular heterogeneity of follistatin, an activinbinding protein. Higher affinity of the carboxyl-terminal truncated forms for heparan sulfate proteoglycans on the ovarian granulosa cell. J. Biol. Chem. 268, 15579-15587.

Teaford M.F., Smith, M.M, and Ferguson, MW. (2000). Development, function, and evolution of teeth. Cambridge University Press.

Ten Cate A.R. (1998). Oral histology: Development, Structure, and Function. Mosby-Year Book, Inc.

Thesleff, I. (2003). Developmental biology and building a tooth. Quintessence Int. 34, 613-620.

Thesleff, I. (2000). Genetic basis of tooth development and dental defects. Acta Odontol. Scand. 58, 191-194.

Thesleff, I., Barrach, H.J., Foidart, J.M., Vaheri, A., Pratt, R.M., and Martin, G.R. (1981). Changes in the distribution of type IV collagen, laminin, proteoglycan, and fibronectin during mouse tooth development. Dev. Biol. 81, 182-192.

Thesleff, I., and Hurmerinta, K. (1981). Tissue interactions in tooth development. Differentiation 18, 75-88.

Thesleff, I., and Mikkola, M. (2002a). The role of growth factors in tooth development. Int. Rev. Cytol. 217, 93-135.

Thesleff, I., and Mikkola, M.L. (2002b). Death receptor signaling giving life to ectodermal organs. Sci. STKE 131, PE22.

Thesleff, I., and Nieminen, P. (1996). Tooth morphogenesis and cell differentiation. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 8, 844-850.

Thirunavukkarasu, K., Mahajan, M., McLarren, K.W., Stifani, S., and Karsenty, G. (1998). Two domains unique to osteoblastspecific transcription factor Osf2/Cbfa1 contribute to its transactivation function and its inability to heterodimerize with Cbfbeta. Mol. Cell. Biol. 18, 4197-4208. Thomas, B.L., Tucker, A.S., Ferguson, C., Qiu, M., Rubenstein, J.L., and Sharpe, P.T. (1998). Molecular control of odontogenic patterning: positional dependent initiation and morphogenesis. Eur. J. Oral Sci. 106 suppl 1, 44-47.

Thomas, B.L., Tucker, A.S., Qui, M., Ferguson, C.A., Hardcastle, Z., Rubenstein, J.L., and Sharpe, P.T. (1997). Role of Dlx-1 and Dlx-2 genes in patterning of the murine dentition. Development 124, 4811-4818.

Thomsen, G., Woolf, T., Whitman, M., Sokol, S., Vaughan, J., Vale, W., and Melton, D.A. (1990). Activins are expressed early in Xenopus embryogenesis and can induce axial mesoderm and anterior structures. Cell 63, 485-493.

Tortoriello, D.V., Sidis, Y., Holtzman, D.A., Holmes, W.E., and Schneyer, A.L. (2001). Human follistatin-related protein: a structural homologue of follistatin with nuclear localization. Endocrinology 142, 3426-3434.

Travis, A, Amsterdam, A, Belanger, C, and Grosschedl, R. (1991). LEF-1, a gene encoding a lymphoid-specific protein with an HMG domain, regulates T-cell receptor alpha enhancer function [corrected]. Genes Dev. 5, 880-94. Erratum in: Genes Dev 1991, 5, following 1113.

Trokovic, R, Trokovic, N, Hernesniemi, S, Pirvola, U, Vogt Weisenhorn, D.M, Rossant, J, McMahon, A.P, Wurst, W, and Partanen, J. (2003). FGFR1 is independently required in both developing mid- and hindbrain for sustained response to isthmic signals. EMBO J. 22, 1811-23.

Trumpp, A., Depew, M.J., Rubenstein, J.L., Bishop, J.M., and Martin, G.R. (1999). Cremediated gene inactivation demonstrates that FGF8 is required for cell survival and patterning of the first branchial arch. Genes Dev. 13, 3136-3148.

Tucker, A.S., Al Khamis, A., and Sharpe, P.T. (1998a). Interactions between Bmp-4 and Msx-1 act to restrict gene expression to

odontogenic mesenchyme. Dev. Dyn. 212, 533-539.

Tucker, A.S., Matthews, K.L., and Sharpe, P.T. (1998b). Transformation of tooth type induced by inhibition of BMP signaling. Science 282, 1136-1138.

Tucker, A.S., and Sharpe, P.T. (1999). Molecular genetics of tooth morphogenesis and patterning: the right shape in the right place. J. Dent. Res. 78, 826-834.

Tureckova, J., Sahlberg, C., Åberg, T., Ruch, J.V., Thesleff, I., and Peterkova, R. (1995). Comparison of expression of the msx-1, msx-2, BMP-2 and BMP-4 genes in the mouse upper diastemal and molar tooth primordia. Int. J. Dev. Biol. 39, 459-468.

Ueno, N., Ling, N., Ying, S.Y., Esch, F., Shimasaki, S., and Guillemin, R. (1987). Isolation and partial characterization of follistatin: a single-chain Mr 35,000 monomeric protein that inhibits the release of follicle-stimulating hormone. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 84, 8282-8286.

Unda, F.J., Martin, A., Hilario, E., Begue-Kirn, C., Ruch, J.V., and Arechaga, J. (2000). Dissection of the odontoblast differentiation process in vitro by a combination of FGF1, FGF2, and TGFbeta1. Dev. Dyn. 218, 480-489.

Vaahtokari, A., Åberg, T., Jernvall, J., Keränen, S., and Thesleff, I. (1996). The enamel knot as a signaling center in the developing mouse tooth. Mech. Dev. 54, 39-43.

Vaahtokari, A., Vainio, S., and Thesleff, I. (1991). Associations between transforming growth factor beta 1 RNA expression and epithelial-mesenchymal interactions during tooth morphogenesis. Development 113, 985-994.

Vainio, S., Karavanova, I., Jowett, A., and Thesleff, I. (1993). Identification of BMP-4 as a signal mediating secondary induction between epithelial and mesenchymal tissues during early tooth development. Cell 75, 45-58.

Vassalli, A, Matzuk, M.M, Gardner, H.A, Lee, K.F, and Jaenisch, R. (1994). Activin/ inhibin beta B subunit gene disruption leads to defects in eyelid development and female reproduction. Genes Dev. 427, 414-27.

Wang, Q., Stacy, T., Binder, M., Marin-Padilla, M., Sharpe, A.H., and Speck, N.A. (1996). Disruption of the Cbfa2 gene causes necrosis and hemorrhaging in the central nervous system and blocks definitive hematopoiesis. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 93, 3444-3449.

Wankell, M., Kaesler, S., Zhang, Y.Q., Florence, C., Werner, S., and Duan, R. (2001). The activin binding proteins follistatin and follistatin-related protein are differentially regulated in vitro and during cutaneous wound repair. J. Endocrinol. 171, 385-395.

Wankell, M., Kaesler, S., Zhang, Y.Q., Florence, C., Werner, S., and Duan, R. (2001). The activin binding proteins follistatin and follistatin-related protein are differentially regulated in vitro and during cutaneous wound repair. J. Endocrinol. 171, 385-395.

Wankell, M., Munz, B., Hubner, G., Hans, W., Wolf, E., Goppelt, A., and Werner, S. (2001). Impaired wound healing in transgenic mice overexpressing the activin antagonist follistatin in the epidermis. EMBO J. 20, 5361-5372.

Weiss, K, Stock, D, Zhao, Z, Buchanan, A, Ruddle, F, and Shashikant, C. (1998). Perspectives on genetic aspects of dental patterning. Eur J Oral Sci.106 Suppl 1,55-63.

Willert, J., Epping, M., Pollack, J.R., Brown, P.O., and Nusse, R. (2002). A transcriptional response to Wnt protein in human embryonic carcinoma cells. BMC Dev. Biol. 2, 8.
Winnier, G., Blessing, M., Labosky, P.A., and Hogan, B.L. (1995). Bone morphogenetic protein-4 is required for mesoderm formation and patterning in the mouse. Genes Dev. 9, 2105-2116.

Woodruff, T.K. (1998). Regulation of cellular and system function by activin. Biochem. Pharmacol. 55, 953-963.

Xiao, G., Jiang, D., Gopalakrishnan, R., and Franceschi, R.T. (2002). Fibroblast growth factor 2 induction of the osteocalcin gene requires MAPK activity and phosphorylation of the osteoblast transcription factor, Cbfa1/ Runx2. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 36181-36187.

Xiao, G., Jiang, D., Thomas, P., Benson, M.D., Guan, K., Karsenty, G., and Franceschi, R.T. (2000). MAPK pathways activate and phosphorylate the osteoblastspecific transcription factor, Cbfa1. J. Biol. Chem. 275, 4453-4459.

Yamashiro, T., Åberg, T., Levanon, D., Groner, Y., and Thesleff, I. (2002). Expression of Runx 1, -2 and -3 during tooth, palate and craniofacial bone development. Mech. Dev. 119 suppl 1, 107-10.

Yamashita, H., ten Dijke, P., Huylebroeck, D., Sampath, T.K., Andries, M., Smith, J.C., Heldin, C.H., and Miyazono, K. (1995). Osteogenic protein-1 binds to activin type II receptors and induces certain activin-like effects. J. Cell Biol. 130, 217-226.

Yan, M., Zhang, Z., Brady, J.R., Schilbach, S., Fairbrother, W.J., and Dixit, V.M. (2002). Identification of a novel death domaincontaining adaptor molecule for ectodysplasin-A receptor that is mutated in crinkled mice. Curr. Biol. 12, 409-413.

Ying, S.Y., Becker, A., Swanson, G., Tan, P., Ling, N., Esch, F., Ueno, N., Shimasaki, S., and Guillemin, R. (1987). Follistatin specifically inhibits pituitary follicle stimulating hormone release in vitro. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 149, 133-139. Yoshiba, K., Yoshiba, N., Aberdam, D., Meneguzzi, G., Perrin-Schmitt, F., Stoetzel, C., Ruch, J.V., and Lesot, H. (2000). Differential expression of laminin-5 subunits during incisor and molar development in the mouse. Int. J. Dev. Biol. 44, 337-340.

Yoshiba, K., Yoshiba, N., Aberdam, D., Meneguzzi, G., Perrin-Schmitt, F., Stoetzel, C., Ruch, J.V., and Lesot, H. (1998). Expression and localization of laminin-5 subunits during mouse tooth development. Dev. Dyn. 211, 164-176.

Zeichner-David, M., Diekwisch, T., Fincham, A., Lau, E., MacDougall, M., Moradian-Oldak, J., Simmer, J., Snead, M., and Slavkin, H.C. (1995). Control of ameloblast differentiation. Int. J. Dev. Biol. 39, 69-92.

Zhang, H., and Bradley, A. (1996). Mice deficient for BMP2 are nonviable and have defects in amnion/chorion and cardiac development. Development 122, 2977-2986.

Zhang, S, Lin, Y, Itaranta, P, Yagi, A, and Vainio, S. (2001). Expression of Sprouty genes 1, 2 and 4 during mouse organogenesis. Mech Dev. 109, 367-70.

Zhang, Y.W., Yasui, N., Ito, K., Huang, G., Fujii, M., Hanai, J., Nogami, H., Ochi, T., Miyazono, K., and Ito, Y. (2000). A RUNX2/ PEBP2alpha A/CBFA1 mutation displaying impaired transactivation and Smad interaction in cleidocranial dysplasia. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 97, 10549-10554.

Zou, S.J., D'Souza, R.N., Ahlberg, T., and Bronckers, A.L. (2003). Tooth eruption and cementum formation in the Runx2/Cbfa1 heterozygous mouse. Arch. Oral Biol. 48, 673-677.

Zwijsen, A., Blockx, H., Van Arnhem, W., Willems, J., Fransen, L., Devos, K., Raymackers, J., Van de Voorde, A., and Slegers, H. (1994). Characterization of a rat C6 glioma-secreted follistatin-related protein (FRP). Cloning and sequence of the human homologue. Eur. J. Biochem. 225, 937-946. Åberg, T., Wozney, J., and Thesleff, I. (1997). Expression patterns of bone morphogenetic proteins (Bmps) in the developing mouse tooth suggest roles in morphogenesis and cell differentiation. Dev. Dyn. 210, 383-396.